
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 14-22150-CIV-ALTONAGA/O'Sullivan 

JAMES D. SALLAH, not individually 
but solely in his capacity as Corporate Monitor for 
OM GLOBAL INVESTMENT FUND LLC and 
OM GLOBAL LP, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

FAHRENHEIT VENTURE FUND LLC, 

Defendant. 

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff James D. Sallah, not individually but solely in his capacity as the court-

appointed Corporate Monitor (the "Corporate Monitor") for OM Global Investment Fund LLC 

and OM Global LP (collectively, "OM Global"), responds to the Motion to Dismiss Complaint 

[DE 14] filed by Defendant Fahrenheit Venture Fund LLC ("Fahrenheit Venture"), and states1
: 

INTRODUCTION2 

A. What Is a Corporate Monitor? 

In its Motion to Dismiss, Fahrenheit Venture has launched an all-out attack on the 

legitimacy of a "corporate monitor."3 Therefore, before addressing Fahrenheit Venture's 

specific arguments, the Corporate Monitor will explain what a "corporate monitor" is. 

1 Fahrenheit Venture claims that it is a creditor, but nothing could be further from the truth. 

2 The Corporate Monitor recently filed a Motion to Remand [DE 17], which includes a 
comprehensive background section. In order not to be duplicative, the Corporate Monitor will 
not include the same background section herein. 

3 This is a reason why this Court should grant the pending Motion to Remand. 

LEVINE KELLOGG LEHMAN SCHNEIDER+ GROSSMAN LLP 
20 I South Biscayne Boulevard, 22nd Floor, Miami Center, Miami, Florida 33131 · Main: 305.403.8788 · Fax: 305.403.8789 

Case 1:14-cv-22150-CMA   Document 19   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/14/2014   Page 1 of 22



Like a receiver and trustee, a corporate monitor is a lawyer, accountant or other 

disinterested professional appointed by the Court as a neutral third party. For example, the Court 

(whether State or Federal) may appoint a corporate monitor to oversee the actions of the 

company's management to prevent destruction of documents, dissipation of assets or other 

inappropriate behavior. If the business is no longer operating, the Court may appoint a corporate 

monitor to simply hold assets or serve as a liquidating agent to repay creditors. No matter the 

situation, the corporate monitor's main focus is to preserve the status quo of the business, the 

entity or the assets over which he or she has been appointed. 

One trend for the innovative use of corporate monitors is in the context of securities fraud 

or other investment-related schemes. The governmental enforcement agency, such as the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), may wish to immediately prevent a potential 

target from dissipating investor funds. In such cases, the agency may file suit immediately to 

displace the current management from maintaining control, and may request the immediate 

appointment of a corporate monitor to preserve the status quo. Alternatively, the corporation or 

entity under investigation can voluntarily relinquish control to a neutral corporate monitor in an 

effmi to cooperate with the investigation.4 

B. A Corporate Monitor Was the Best Solution for OM Global 

The defunct OM Global hedge fund is a good example of when a corporate monitor was 

necessary. In spring 2013, OM Global investors were owed approximately $14 million, which 

OM Global had raised for purportedly investing in Facebook's pre-IPO stock. Complicating 

things was the fact that the hedge fund, through its trader, Gignesh Movalia ("Movalia"), had 

suffered massive trading losses of approximately $9 million, had liquidated all open trading 

4 As fmiher discussed below, that is what happened here, which discovery will prove. 
2 
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positions and had failed to initially register properly with the SEC. With the SEC still 

investigating, a corporate monitor was the most efficient solution to remove management, 

preserve the remaining investor funds and distribute them to repay the nearly 200 investors who 

were owed money. Discovery will prove this. 

As a result, a lawsuit was initiated in May 2013 in Miami-Dade Circuit Court by an 

investor to appoint a corporate monitor. 5 The underlying monitor action is styled Chirag Amin v. 

Gignesh Movalia and OM Global Investment Fund LLC, Case No. 13-18620 CA 13 (the 

"Monitor Action"). The Honorable Daryl E. Trawick was assigned the case and appointed the 

Corporate Monitor. 6 A copy of Judge Trawick's Appointment Order is attached as Exhibit A. 

There were immediate benefits to investors of having the Corporate Monitor appointed in 

the interim of the SEC's investigation. The Corporate Monitor quickly identified and 

communicated with all known investors, compiled and reconstructed the necessary bank records 

to determine a cash-in/cash-out analysis of what investors were owed, and developed a Court-

approved claims and distribution procedure for repaying investors. Nearly 200 purported 

investors and creditors ultimately submitted claim forms. In April 2014, the Corporate Monitor 

made his first distribution of approximately $2.3 million to investors with allowed claims, all of 

which Judge Trawick approved. A second distribution will take place in the future. The 

Corporate Monitor's appointment had accomplished the primary goal of securing investor funds 

to repay them - i.e. preserving the status quo - in the interim of the SEC' s investigation. 

However, what was anticipated to be a monitor proceeding of identifying and repaying 

5 The lawsuit was filed in the Circuit Court because there was no diversity jurisdiction. 

6 Fahrenheit Venture argues that the undersigned is somehow conflicted in the Monitor Action 
and this case, but the initiating investor expressly consented to (1) the undersigned's 
representation of the Corporate Monitor after initiating the Monitor Action and (2) the 
undersigned's withdrawal as the investor's counsel soon thereafter. 
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investors turned out to be much more than that. Millions of dollars in purportedly unauthorized 

loans had been made with investor funds and were still owed to OM Global. At the same time, 

millions of dollars in improper redemptions to investors (such as Defendant Fahrenheit Venture) 

had been made. The Facebook investment in which investors believed they had invested had not 

existed for many months. False account statements had been sent to investors. The dire nature of 

the fund had been covered-up to keep investors in the dark. 

Judge Trawick's Appointment Order accounted for these contingencies, so the Corporate 

Monitor had the authority to sue third parties (such as Fahrenheit Venture). As a result, the 

Corporate Monitor has sued several targets, including loan obligors and investors who received 

improper redemptions, and has settled pre-suit with others. The investor lawsuits (such as this 

case) seek the return of overpaid funds, including principal, from investors who knew or should 

have lmown that OM Global was a Ponzi scheme and/or that their redemption was improper. 

C. Fahrenheit Venture's Motion to Dismiss 

In its Motion to Dismiss, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor lacks 

standing and his claims for fraudulent transfer, conversion, and unjust enrichment fail to state a 

claim and/or have pleading deficiencies. This Court should reject such arguments. 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

A. The Corporate Monitor Has Standing 

1. A Corporate Monitor Is a Legally-Recognized Court-Appointed Fiduciary 

A corporate monitor is an example of a court-appointed fiduciary, with as much 

legitimacy as a receiver and bankruptcy trustee. Although it appears that corporate monitors are 

not as common or well lmown as receivers or trustees, the Corporate Monitor's authority should 

not be dubious, as Fahrenheit Venture would lead this Court to believe. 
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Fahrenheit Venture cites three federal cases which involved the appointment and use of 

corporate monitors - i.e., Hunter Wise,7 Crowley, and WorldCom - for the proposition that a 

corporate monitor is a rarity and thus has dubious authority. However, the fact that there have 

been several corporate monitor appointments establishes that a corporate monitor is not some 

legal fiction created for the first time here; therefore, the fiduciary appointment of a corporate 

monitor does, in fact, and should exist. 

2. This Case Involves the SEC 

Next, Fahrenheit Venture argues that a corporate monitor is only appropriate in Federal 

Court/SEC cases and the Monitor Action is a State Court/non-SEC case. 8 This Court should 

reject this argument because the Monitor Action involves the SEC and, even if it does not, there 

is no legal prohibition barring a State Court from appointing a corporate monitor. 

As stated above, this case, in fact, involves the SEC because one of the goals of the 

Monitor Action was for the Corporate Monitor to secure investor funds to repay investors in the 

interim of the SEC's investigation of Movalia and OM Global. In addition, this case involves the 

SEC because the SEC has filed a parallel lawsuit, styled SEC v. OM Investment Management 

LLC, Gignesh Movalia, and Edwin V. Gaw, Case No. 13-cv-23486-MARTINEZ (the "SEC 

Action"), with dozens of allegations involving OM Global and the Monitor Action. Specifically, 

7 Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Appointment Order contains more expansive language 
regarding the right to file third-party lawsuits than the appointment order in the Hunter Wise 
case, styled CFTC v. Hunter Wise Commodities, LLC, No. 12-81311-CIV, 2013 WL 718503, at 
*16 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 26, 2013). This is incorrect because the corporate monitor in Hunter Wise 
was similarly authorized to sue for the return of funds derived from the entity. Id. Therefore, the 
Corporate Monitor was granted the same powers that other monitors have been granted. 

8 Fahrenheit Venture argues that the WorldCom case was the first decision where a corporate 
monitor was appointed, the appointment of which was pursuant to ancillary relief in SEC actions. 
However, there is nothing in the first reported WorldCom decision - SEC v. WorldCom, Inc., No. 
02 CIV. 4963(JSR), 2002 WL 1788032, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 2002) - limiting corporate 
monitors exclusively to SEC cases. 

5 
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in September 2013, which was approximately four months after the filing of the Monitor Action, 

the SEC sued OM Global's investment advisor, Movalia. A copy of the SEC's Complaint is 

attached as Exhibit B. In response, Movalia consented to a Permanent Injunction, a copy of 

which is attached as Exhibit C. 

Discovery will prove that the Corporate Monitor was not appointed in the SEC Action 

because the Monitor Action had been pending for several months and the SEC did not want to 

disturb the Monitor Action, which was operating smoothly before Judge Trawick. That is why 

the Permanent Injunction, in Section X.C, states that the SEC Action would not interfere with, or 

otherwise affect, the Corporate Monitor's recovery efforts in the Monitor Action. That is also 

why OM Global was not a named defendant in the SEC Action. 

3. There Is No Prohibition against a State Court 
Judge Appointing a Corporate Monitor 

Notwithstanding the above, there is absolutely no legal prohibition against a State Court 

Judge (such as Judge Trawick) appointing a corporate monitor. In fact, Fahrenheit Venture's 

argument is a blatant attack on Judge Trawick's decision to appoint the Corporate Monitor, 

including the provisions in Judge Trawick's Appointment Order such as the right to initiate 

lawsuits. This Court should reject this argument not only because it is legally and factually 

baseless, but also because it should be a decision made by Judge Trawick and not this Court.9 

4. Although It Is Unnecessary, the Corporate 
Monitor Can Cure Any Purported Issues 

Regarding Fahrenheit Venture's argument that a corporate monitor can only exist if he or 

she is formally appointed in a SEC case, the Corporate Monitor can cure the purported 

deficiency by simply filing a motion to consolidate the Monitor Action with the SEC Action. 

9 As stated above, this is a reason why this case should be remanded to Judge Trawick. 
6 
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Similarly, regarding the argument that a corporate monitor is not a proper court-appointed 

fiduciary, the Corporate Monitor can cure the purported deficiency by filing a motion to appoint 

the Corporate Monitor as "Receiver" over OM Global. 

5. The Corporate Monitor's Claims Are Based on a Transfer 
from OM Global Which Diminished the Entity's Assets and, 
Therefore, Are Not Investor-Owned Claims 

Next, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor lacks standing because his 

claims are owned by the investors. Nothing could be further from the truth. 

The Corporate Monitor's claims are based on one transfer from the monitorship entity -

i.e., OM Global Investment Fund LLC - to Fahrenheit Venture. As a result of the transfer, OM 

Global Investment Fund LLC's assets were further diminished, the entity became more insolvent 

and it was damaged. Therefore, the claims are owned by OM Global Investment Fund LLC (the 

monitorship entity), and not investors. The allegations in the Complaint, which must be accepted 

as true, establish this: 

[T]he Corporate Monitor is obligated by the Appointment Orders entered in the 
Investor Action to take custody, control, and possession of OM Global's assets 
by investigating and instituting actions (if necessary) against individuals or 
entities with possession of such assets [and] ... the Corporate Monitor's claims 
against Fahrenheit Venture seek to recover such assets, pursuant to the 
Appointment Order dated May 29, 2013 entered in the Investor Action .... 
(Compl. ~ 3) (emphasis added). 

When investors, such as Fahrenheit Venture, received redemptions, Movalia, in 
furtherance of the scheme, intentionally and wrongfully caused OM Global 
Investment Fund LLC to pay investors sums of money equivalent to more than, 
all of and/or part of the principal invested by those investors. (Compl. ~ 39) 
(emphasis added). 

As a direct and proximate result of the transfer of duped victim funds, the OM 
Global corporate monitorship has been diminished. The remaining assets of 
OM Global Investment Fund LLC are insufficient to pay OM Global Investment 
Fund LLC's liabilities. (Compl. ~ 50) (emphasis added). 
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Other allegations in the Complaint also establish that the claims are owned by the entity. (See 

Compl. iii! 1, 4-5, 7, 12, 40, 42, 51, 57-59, 62). Therefore, Fahrenheit Venture has grossly 

distorted the Corporate Monitor's allegations by arguing this case is an investor-owned lawsuit. 10 

It is legally appropriate for a court-appointed fiduciary to file claims owned by the entity 

for the duped investors' benefit. The cases on which Fahrenheit Venture relies even support this 

proposition. 11 See Freeman v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 865 So. 2d 543, 550 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2003) ("[T]he receiver can bring actions previously owned by the party in receivership for the 

benefit of creditors, but he or she cannot pursue claims owned directly by the creditors.") 

(emphasis added); see also Wiand v. Lee, No. 13-10448, 2014 WL 2446084, at *3-7 (11th Cir. 

June 2, 2014) (affirming summary judgment in favor of receiver where receiver sued investor for 

fraudulent transfer "on behalf of the receivership entities in order to partially compensate those 

investors who suffered a net loss on their investments"); Sallah v. Worldwide Clearing LLC, 860 

F. Supp. 2d 1329, 1335 (S.D. Fla. 2011) ("As pleaded, the Receiver is not pursuing claims 

owned directly by the creditors. Rather, the Receiver is pursuing claims that are owned by MRT 

LLC. As such, the Receiver has standing to proceed in this matter."). 12 Again, the voluminous 

above-listed allegations establish that the Corporate Monitor is suing based on claims owned by 

the entity, and not investors. 

10 Because the Corporate Monitor is suing for claims owned by OM Global Investment Fund 
LLC, there was no need for an assignment or delegation of claims from investors to the 
Corporate Monitor. 

11 Receivership case law is relevant herein because receivership concepts in the context of a 
Ponzi scheme should apply equally to a corporate monitor appointed in a Ponzi scheme. 

12 Assuming the Corporate Monitor recovers from Fahrenheit Venture, those funds will be 
deposited in the monitor account for purposes of a future distribution to investors with allowed 
claims. That is why this lawsuit is ultimately for the benefit of investors, which is why 
numerous Courts have permitted such lawsuits by court-appointed fiduciaries for the benefit of 
investors and/or creditors. 
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B. Count I (Fraudulent Transfer under Florida 
Statute§ 726.lOS(l)(a)) Properly States a Claim 

1. The Corporate Monitor Has Adequately Alleged 
the "Creditor," "Debtor," and "Claim" 

Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor has failed to identify who the 

"creditors" and "debtor" are for purposes of Count I (fraudulent transfer under Florida Statute § 

726. 10 5 ( 1 )(a)). Again, nothing could be further from the truth. The Corporate Monitor has 

adequately alleged who the "creditor" and "debtor" are here, as well as the "claim," under 

Florida Statute Chapter 726. 

The Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged that OM Global Investment Fund LLC 

and/or the Corporate Monitor are the "creditors." (See Compl. ~~ 41, 49). In the receivership 

context, the receivership entity is deemed a "creditor" for purposes of a fraudulent transfer claim. 

See Wiand, 2014 WL 2446084, at *6 ("The receivership entities were thus creditors because 

they had a right to a return of the funds Nadel transferred for unauthorized purposes for the 

benefit of their innocent investors.") (emphasis added) (citations omitted); Sallah, 860 F. Supp. 

2d at 1335 (denying motion to dismiss because allegations stated that receivership entity was 

"creditor" and individuals running Ponzi scheme directed fraudulent transfers out of entity's 

accounts); Wiand v. Dancing$, LLC, No. 8:10-CV-92-T-17MAP, 2011 WL 6718738, at *2 

(M.D. Fla. Nov. 21, 2011) (hedge funds in receivership deemed "creditors" under FUFTA). 

Likewise, the Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged that Movalia is the "debtor." 

(See Compl. ~~ 26, 28-29, 32, 36, 38-42, 48-49, 52-53). The protagonist of the alleged Ponzi 

scheme or fraud (here, Movalia), who is controlling the transfers out of the entity, is deemed the 

"debtor" for purposes of a fraudulent transfer claim. See Wiand, 2014 WL 2446084, at *6 

("With each transfer that Nadel made, Nadel became a debtor of the receivership entities 
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because he diverted the funds from their lawful purpose in violation of his fiduciary duties and 

was thus obligated to return those same funds to the entities to be used for the benefit of the 

investors.") (emphasis added); Sallah, 860 F. Supp. 2d at 1335 (denying motion to dismiss 

because allegations stated that individuals running Ponzi scheme who directed fraudulent 

transfers out of entity's accounts were "debtors"); Wiand, 2011 WL 6718738, at *2 (protagonist 

of Ponzi scheme who directed fraudulent transfers deemed "debtor" under FUFTA). 

Finally, the Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged the nature of the "claim" by 

describing the circumstances of Fahrenheit Venture's improper redemption, the nature of the OM 

Global Ponzi scheme and the Corporate Monitor's right to recovery. (See Compl. ~~ 25-43, 46-

53). In a Ponzi context, a "claim" against the "debtor" arises from the harm to the entity by 

fraudulently transferring assets rightfully belonging to the entity/its investors. See Wiand, 2014 

WL 2446084, at *6 ("They had a 'claim' against Nadel because he harmed the corporations by 

transferring assets rightfully belonging to the corporations and their investors .... "). 

Next, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor has failed to allege any facts 

supporting the allegation that Fahrenheit Venture's redemption was made to hinder, delay or 

defraud any creditor of the debtor. However, Fahrenheit Venture is incorrect on what the law is. 

The Eleventh Circuit recently addressed this issue in the above-cited case of Wiand v. Lee, No. 

13-10448, 2014 WL 2446084, at *3-4 (11th Cir. June 2, 2014). In Wiand, the Eleventh Circuit 

held, among other things, that a transfer is made with actual fraudulent intent if simply made in a 

Ponzi scheme, without considering additional facts: 

In determining whether a transfer was made with actual intent to defraud a 
creditor, courts look to the statutory "badges of fraud," . . . . We now clarify that, 
under FUFTA's actual fraud provision, proof that a transfer was made in 
furtherance of a Ponzi scheme establishes actual intent to defraud under § 
726.lOS(l)(a) without the need to consider the badges of fraud. 

10 
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Id. (emphasis added) (citations omitted). 

Here, the Corporate Monitor has alleged that Movalia was running a Ponzi scheme 

through OM Global, including a number of reasons why it was a Ponzi. (See Compl. ~~ 19, 22-

23, 28-29, 31-33, 37-42, 47-53). In addition, the Corporate Monitor has incorporated the SEC's 

allegations of the Ponzi scheme by attaching the SEC's Complaint as an exhibit to the 

Complaint. Therefore, the Corporate Monitor has surpassed any pleading requirement here. 

2. This Is Not a Preference Claim 

Fahrenheit Venture argues that the claim is equivalent to a preference transfer which, by 

itself, does not constitute a fraudulent transfer. The problem is that it completely ignores all of 

the allegations in the Complaint regarding Fahrenheit Venture's bad faith. (See Compl. ~~ 31-

36). In other words, Fahrenheit Venture's redemption is not a preference transfer to an innocent 

recipient for services rendered, as Fahrenheit Venture would have this Court believe, but, 

according to the well-pled allegations of the Complaint which must be accepted as true, was a 

fraudulent transfer of the "fruits of the fraud" received with bad faith in a Ponzi scheme. 13 

3. There Is No Requirement to Plead 
with Particularity under Rule 9(b) 

Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor has failed to allege the fraud with 

particularity under Rule 9(b ). Fahrenheit Venture cites no case law for this proposition. Again, 

Fahrenheit Venture is incorrect on the law. There is no requirement to plead a fraudulent 

transfer claim with particularity under Rule 9(b). See Wiand v. EFG Bank, No. 8:10-CV-241-T-

17MAP, 2012 WL 750447, at *6 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 8, 2012) (denying motion to dismiss FUFTA 

13 The case on which Fahrenheit Venture relies - i.e., B.E.L. T., Inc. v. Wachovia Corp., 403 F.3d 
474, 477 (ih Cir. 2005) - is inapplicable because the repayment there involved an antecedent 
debt for services rendered and the defendant there - unlike Fahrenheit Venture here - did not 
exhibit bad faith. Similarly, because this is not a preference scenario, Fahrenheit Venture's 
reliance on the Bankruptcy Code is misplaced. 

11 
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claims because heightened pleading requirement under Rule 9(b) did not apply); Perlman v. Five 

Corners Investors I, LLC, No. 09-81225-CIV, 2010 WL 962953, at *4 (S.D. Fla. March 15, 

2010) ("As a result, Rule 9(b)'s heightened pleading standard does not apply to claims brought 

under FUFTA.") (citations omitted). 

Notwithstanding the above, even if the Corporate Monitor was required to plead the 

fraudulent transfer claim with particularity, the Complaint would satisfy that requirement as 

established in Sections B.1 and B.2, supra, because the Corporate Monitor has more than 

adequately alleged Fahrenheit Venture's liability, its role and bad faith with the transaction, the 

nature of the Ponzi scheme, the date of the transfer, and the amount of the transfer. Perlman, 

2010 WL 962953, at *4 (FUFTA claim would have satisfied Rule 9(b) because receiver's 

complaint notified defendants of their role in the transfers, the history of the Ponzi scheme, the 

dates of each transfer, and the amounts of each transfer). 

4. Although It Is Unnecessary, the Corporate 
Monitor Can Cure Any Pleading Issues 

The Corporate Monitor has adequately pled Count I (fraudulent transfer) for the above-

stated reasons. However, if this Court disagrees, the Corporate Monitor can cure any pleading 

issues by re-pleading. Therefore, any dismissal on Count I should be without prejudice. 

C. Count II (Conversion) Properly States a Claim 

1. The Corporate Monitor Adequately Alleged That Fahrenheit 
Venture Received Other Investors' Money 

First, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor's claim for conversion fails 

because Fahrenheit Venture received back 99% of its funds and conversion requires that the 

defendant convert another's property. Again, Fahrenheit Venture has distorted the Corporate 

12 
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Monitor's allegations. 14 The Corporate Monitor has alleged that Fahrenheit Venture received a 

redemption comprised of other investors' money because OM Global was a Ponzi scheme: 

The redemptions, which Movalia caused OM Global Investment Fund LLC to 
make, were paid from the fruits of the scheme, further dissipated the assets of 
OM Global Investment Fund LLC, were not distributions of actual gains or of the 
recipients' principal investments and thus injured OM Global Investment Fund 
LLC (and its investors). In other words, Fahrenheit Venture did not actually 
receive its principal funds; it received commingled funds of other investors. 
(Compl. ~ 40) (emphasis added). 

Given the foregoing, it is inequitable for Fahrenheit Venture to reap the benefit of 
funds derived from OM Global Investment Fund LLC's investors for its own 
benefit, without fair value returned. (Compl. ~ 43) (emphasis added). 

Other allegations in the Complaint also establish that the redemption consisted of other 

investors' money. (See Compl. ~~ 37-38, 47, 57, 62-63, 66-68). This Comi must accept these 

allegations as true for purposes of the Motion to Dismiss. 

In fact, the very definition of a Ponzi scheme is that more fortunate investors (such as 

Fahrenheit Venture) receive back investment funds which are derived from other investors. See 

Wiand, 2014 WL 2446084, at *4 (recipients of transfers in a Ponzi scheme, by definition, receive 

funds of other investors). This, again, is what is alleged and is, as discovery will prove, what 

happened here. And, as discussed below, the fact that investor funds were commingled and the 

fact that money is fungible do not negate the conversion claim. 15 

The Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged the conversion claim. If this Court 

disagrees, the Corporate Monitor requests the opportunity to re-plead the conversion claim. 

14 The fact that Fahrenheit Venture received 99% of its investment back does not mean that the 
redeemed funds were literally Fahrenheit Venture's same investment funds. 

15 The cases on which Fahrenheit Venture relies - i.e., Molinas Valle Del Cibao, C. par A. v. 
Lama, 633 F.3d 1330 (11th Cir. 2011), and SEC v. Lauer, No. 03-80612-CIV, 2009 WL 812719 
(S.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2009) - are distinguishable because they are not even conversion cases. 

13 
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2. The Corporate Monitor Adequately 
Identified the Funds at Issue 

Second, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor's claim for conversion 

fails because conversion is unavailable for commingled funds. In other words, the claimed funds 

must be capable of identification. Fahrenheit Venture's protestations notwithstanding, the 

Corporate Monitor has pled and identified the specific funds at issue, which consist of Fahrenheit 

Venture's redemption of $841,333.29 on January 28, 2013. (Compl. ~~ 27, 31). 

The fact that funds are commingled does not bar a conversion claim. Commingled funds 

may "be the subject of a conversion action if, subsequent to the commingling, the convertor 

specifically identifies the funds." Cananwill, Inc. v. EMAR Grp., Inc., 250 B.R. 533, 550 

(M.D.N.C. 1999). The issuance of a check or an order to wire transfer funds from the 

commingled funds sufficiently identifies the funds subject to conversion. See id.; see also 

Ovvens v. Andrews Bank & Trust Co., 220 S.E.2d 116, 120 (S.C. 1975) (commingled funds could 

be subject of conversion claim where check was issued from commingled funds and check 

specifically identified previously commingled funds); Bel-Bel Int'! Corp. v. Community Bank of 

Homestead, 162 F .3d 1101, 1108-09 (11th Cir. 1998) (finding that allegations adequately stated 

claim for conversion because receivables satisfied requirement of specific, identifiable fund). 16 

Based on the above, the Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged the conversion claim. 

If this Court disagrees, the Corporate Monitor requests to re-plead the conversion claim. 

3. OM Global Did Not Consent to the Redemption 

Third, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor's claim for conversion fails 

16 The case on which Fahrenheit Venture relies - i.e., Fin. Bus. Equip. Solutions, Inc. v. Quality 
Data Sys., Inc., No. 08-60769-CIV, 2008 WL 4753710 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 27, 2008) - is 
distinguishable because that case did not even involve commingled funds, that case was not a 
receivership case, and the plaintiff in that case did not even identify any specific funds. 
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because OM Global consented to Fahrenheit Venture's redemption by transferring the funds to it. 

The Corporate Monitor, on behalf of OM Global, disputes this and has alleged: 

Fahrenheit Venture wrongfully exercised dominion and control over the 
funds to the detriment of, and inconsistent with, OM Global Investment Fund 
LLC's ownership rights thereto, when Fahrenheit Venture received and/or used 
the funds for its own benefit. (Compl. ~ 58) (emphasis added). 

Fahrenheit Venture was not authorized by OM Global Investment Fund 
LLC to assert any control over, manage, or dispose of the funds and, 
notwithstanding, Fahrenheit Venture has wrongfully and permanently deprived 
OM Global Investment Fund LLC of its property. (Compl. ~ 59) (emphasis 
added). 

Moreover, Fahrenheit Venture's contention cannot apply to a court-appointed fiduciary's seeking 

disgorgement of funds converted from the entity in an ancillary proceeding such as this. See 

Carney v. Lopez, 933 F. Supp. 2d 365, 384-85 (D. Conn. 2013) (denying motion to dismiss 

conversion claim and rejecting argument that receivership entity authorized transfers because it 

"could not authorize any of the defendants to accept transfers of misappropriated funds" and "it 

is obvious that [the person controlling the entities who orchestrated the Ponzi scheme] could not 

authorize any of the defendants to accept transfers enmeshed in his fraudulent scheme"). 17 

Based on the above, the Corporate Monitor has adequately alleged the conversion claim. 

If this Court disagrees, the Corporate Monitor, again, requests to re-plead the conversion claim. 

D. Count III (Unjust Enrichment) Properly States a Claim 

1. The Corporate Monitor Adequately Alleged 
That Fahrenheit Venture Received a Benefit 

First, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor's claim for unjust enrichment 

fails because the Corporate Monitor has not pled that Fahrenheit Venture received a benefit. 

17 The case on which Fahrenheit Venture relies - i.e. Comprehensive Care Corp. v. Katzman, 
No. 8:10-CV-942-T-27TGW, 2011WL2960916 (M.D. Fla. July 21, 2011)- is distinguishable 
because that case was not a receivership case and the plaintiff in that case had authorized the 
transaction at issue; thus, the Court found no conversion could have occurred. 

15 
LEVINE KELLOGG LEHMAN SCHNEIDER+ GROSSMAN LLP 

201 South Biscayne Boulevard, 22°d Floor, Miami Center, Miami, Florida 33131 ·Main: 305.403.8788 ·Fax: 305.403.8789 

Case 1:14-cv-22150-CMA   Document 19   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/14/2014   Page 15 of 22



Again, this is incorrect. The Corporate Monitor has pled that Fahrenheit Venture received a 

benefit by receiving a 99% redemption when it was only entitled to a smaller redemption: 

Because the fund was comprised of commingled investor money, Fahrenheit 
Venture, therefore, had no right to the 99% redemption it received and, 
therefore, received an overpayment of at least 50% of its principal 
investment. (Compl. ~ 28) (emphasis added). 

Most investors never received any redemption from the fund. Specifically, over 
70% of investors never received one penny as a redemption. The Corporate 
Monitor recently made a first distribution to investors with allowed claims in the 
amount of approximately 14% of each investor's principal investment amount. 
As stated above, Fahrenheit Venture previously received 99% of its investment 
(or seven times the first distribution amount). (Compl. ~ 30) (emphasis 
added). 

Given the foregoing, it is inequitable for Fahrenheit Venture to reap the benefit of 
funds derived from OM Global Investment Fund LLC's investors for its own 
benefit, without fair value returned. (Compl. ~ 43) (emphasis added). 

OM Global Investment Fund LLC, directly or indirectly, conferred a substantial 
direct benefit on Fahrenheit Venture, namely it received and/or benefitted from 
duped victim funds for its own use. (Compl. ~ 62) (emphasis added). 

Other allegations in the Complaint also establish that the improper overpayment was a benefit to 

Fahrenheit Venture. (See Compl. ~~ 27, 29, 63, 65-67). 18 Moreover, because the redemption 

came from OM Global, OM Global conferred the benefit, and not investors. 

Importantly, an unjust enrichment claim can seek the return of principal because the 

transfer, although in the form of principal, was still a benefit in the context of a Ponzi scheme. 

See Wiand, 2012 WL 750447, at *9 ("EFG also argues that Wiand's unjust enrichment claim in 

count II seeking return of the principal investments fails because it was not unjustly enriched to 

the extent that the transfers it received were the same value as the initial investments. This 

argument, however, falls flat in light of the framework of a ponzi scheme such as the one 

18 Fahrenheit Venture's redemption was the largest redemption by any investor. 
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described in Wiand's complaint. ... Such distributions which Nadel caused the Hedge Funds to 

make to investors were paid from the fruits of the scheme, and were not distributions of actual 

gains or of the recipient's principal investments.")19
; Wiand v. Mitchell, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

24069, at *11 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 27, 2007) (denying motion to dismiss receiver's unjust enrichment 

claim when amounts sought were principal because issue was premature on motion to dismiss); 

Wiand v. Waxenberg, 611 F. Supp. 2d 1299, 1323 (M.D. Fla. 2009) (denying motion for 

summary judgment on receiver's unjust enrichment claims because issues of fact existed whether 

benefit was conferred with respect to return of principal).20 

The Corporate Monitor has adequately pled the unjust enrichment claim for the above-

stated reasons. However, if this Court disagrees, the Corporate Monitor can cure any pleading 

issues by re-pleading. 

2. The Defense of In Pari Delicto Fails 

Next, Fahrenheit Venture argues that the Corporate Monitor's claim for unjust 

enrichment fails because of the defense of in pari delicto. However, the Corporate Monitor's 

claim for unjust enrichment is not barred by in pari delicto. 

a. In Pari Delicto Is Premature 

Fahrenheit Venture relies on the case of Wiand v. Mitchell, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24069 

(S.D. Fla. Mar. 27, 2007). However, that case is analogous to this case and actually supports 

denying the Motion to Dismiss. In Wiand, the defendants brought a motion to dismiss an unjust 

enrichment claim brought by a receiver. Id. at * 1, 10-11. The defendants argued that the 

19 The Report and Recommendation was adopted in Case No. 8:10-CV-241-T-17MAP, 2012 
WL 760305 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 7, 2012). 

20 The case on which Fahrenheit Venture relies - i.e. Henry M Butler, Inc. v. Trizec Properties, 
Inc., 524 So. 2d 710, 712 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) - is distinguishable because that case was not a 
receivership case. 
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receiver could not, under a theory of unjust emichment, recover the principal amounts originally 

invested. Id. at * 10. The District Court disagreed and held that "it is premature to address the 

legal merits of the Receiver's unjust emichment claims on motions to dismiss," noting that "[t]he 

Receiver has complied with the notice pleading requirements of Rule 8 .... " Id. at *11. 

This should come as no surprise because the doctrine of in pari delicto is an affirmative 

defense requiring proof of facts by the defendant; therefore, it is typically not appropriate for 

Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal. Perlman v. Alexis, No. 09-20865-CIV, 2009 WL 3161830, at *3 (S.D. 

Fla. Sept. 25, 2009). 

However, in pari delicto is appropriate on a motion to dismiss where the facts 

establishing the defense are: (1) definitively ascertainable from the complaint and other sources 

of information; and (2) establish the affirmative defense with ce1iitude. Id. 

Those requirements are not met here. 21 Although the Complaint includes an overview of 

the OM Global scheme, which Movalia accomplished, the Corporate Monitor's allegations are 

primarily directed at the defendant in this case - i.e., Fahrenheit Venture. Although the 

Complaint alleges wrongdoing by Movalia, an essentially equitable and necessarily fact-bound 

apportionment of responsibility between Movalia and Fahrenheit Venture would be inappropriate 

for this Court to undertake in ruling on the Motion to Dismiss. The Corporate Monitor and 

Fahrenheit Venture will also likely dispute relevant facts, such as whether there were other 

innocent or less culpable managers of OM Global, including OM Global manager Edwin Gaw, 

that could prevent Movalia's misconduct from being imputed to OM Global for purposes of the 

in pari delicto defense. In addition, Fahrenheit Venture ignores to mention that OM Global has 

21 Although the District Court in Stermer v. Credit Exch. Corp., No. 09-60223-CIV-ZLOCH, 
2009 WL 1203928 (S.D. Fla. May 1, 2009), dismissed the receiver's unjust emichment claim 
based on in pari delicto, the decision has limited analysis so it appears that the in pari delicto 
requirements on a motion to dismiss were met there. 
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innocent investors who have received distributions (which the Corporate Monitor has alleged). 

(See Compl. ~ 30). These investors are expected to receive K-1 's as partners or shareholders in 

the fund. As stated in the Motion to Dismiss, there is an exception to the in pari delicto defense 

when the entity has innocent shareholders. See Wiand, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24069, at *12-13. 

As such, the in pari delicto defense is not only premature at this time, but also fails as a 

matter of law. 

b. In Pari Delicto Does Not Apply Here 

Moreover, in pari delicto typically does not apply in cases involving court-appointed 

fiduciaries. See Scholes v. Lehmann, 56 F.3d 750, 754 (i11 Cir.1995). In Scholes, the Seventh 

Circuit rejected the argument that a receiver could stand in pari delicto with the defendants. Id. 

The Seventh Circuit reasoned that a receiver displaces the managers who had engaged in the 

misconduct, thus ensuring that any recovery would go to the receiver and ultimately innocent 

investors. Id. at 754-55. Therefore, as Fahrenheit Venture correctly states, a receiver does not, 

as a matter of law, inherit the "sins" of the receivership entities. Sallah, 860 F. Supp. 2d at 1336. 

A receivership cleanses the receivership entity, which allows the receiver to file claims against 

recipients of fraudulent transfers to recover assets rightfully belong to the entity. Id. (denying 

motion to dismiss arguing in pari delicto because the receiver pled facts, which, if accepted as 

true, could defeat in pari delicto); see also Wiand, 2012 WL 750447, at *9 (recommending 

denial of motion to dismiss unjust enrichment claim because in pari delicto was "inappropriate 

for consideration as to the unjust enrichment claims at the motion to dismiss stage"). 

Because this is a case brought by the Corporate Monitor and not the entity, in pari delicto 

should not apply. Moreover, Fahrenheit Venture's protestations notwithstanding, the same 

cleaning that applies to receiverships involving a Ponzi scheme should apply to corporate 
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monitorships involving a Ponzi scheme because, as stated above, a Ponzi scheme is a Ponzi 

scheme.22 And the fact that Movalia consented to the Corporate Monitor should not somehow 

revive the defense or preclude the Corporate Monitor from filing lawsuits (such as this case) 

pursuant to the express provisions in Judge Trawick's Appointment Order; if accepted, that 

"gotcha" tactic would defeat every court-appointed fiduciary's third-party lawsuits if the 

underlying defendant simply did not object to the fiduciary's appointment. 

CONCLUSION 

The Corporate Monitor respectfully requests that this Court deny Fahrenheit Venture's 

Motion to Dismiss, including its request for fees and costs. 

Dated: July 14, 2014. Respectfully submitted, 

LEVINE KELLOGG LEHMAN 

SCHNEIDER+ GROSSMAN LLP 
Counsel for Corporate Monitor 
201 South Biscayne Boulevard 
22nd Floor, Miami Center 
Miami, Florida 33131 
Telephone: (305) 403-8788 
Facsimile: (305) 403-8789 

By: Patrick J. Rengstl, Esq. 
Jeffrey C. Schneider 
FL Bar No. 933244 
Patrick J. Rengstl 
FL Bar No. 0581631 

22 Again, the underlying proceeding can be conve1ied into a receivership proceeding if necessary 
and at the Corporate Monitor's request. 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1 lTH 
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI
DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CIVIL DIVISION 

CASE NO.: 13-18620 CA 13 

CHIRAO AMIN, 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 

OIGNESH MOVALIA and OM GLOBAL 
INVESTMENT FUND LLC, 

Defendants. 
______________ ! 

AGREED ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S UNOPPOSED 
MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF CORPORATE MONITOR 

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court upon Plaintiff's Unopposed· Motion for 

Appointment of Corporate Monitor (the "Motion"). The Court, having reviewed the relevant 

pleadings, been apprised of the agreement of the parties, and being otherwise advised in the 

premises, it is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED as follows: 

I. Appointment of Corporate Monitor 

1. Plaintiff and Defendants agree that assets of OM Global Investment Fund LLC 

("OM Global") should be preserved, and options 'to maximize the value of OM OlobaPs 

operations and assets is in the best interest of its creditors, investors, and managing members. 

2. Plaintiff and Defendants agree that it is in the interest of creditors, investors, and 

managing members for an examination of OM Olobal's finances, and options and 

recommendations be made to the Court about alternatives to maximize the operations and asset 

value of OM Global. 
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3, For the purpose of (a) performing an assessment of the viability of OM Global's 

ongoing business enterprises and options and alternatives for the future of OM Global and (b) 

recommending to the Court the appropriate course of action for OM Global, the temporary 

appointment of a Corporate Monitor is desirable, 

.4. For the purpose of (a) preserving assets of OM Global and (b) permitting OM 

Global to continue normal business operations, the temporary appointment of. a Corporate 

Monitor is desirable. 

5. .This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action . and personal 

jurisdiction over OM Global, and venue properly lies in this Court. 

6. Until further Order of this Court, James D. Sallah, Esq. is hereby approved and 
. . . 

appointed to serve without bond ·as Corporate Monitor for OM Global. 

7: Any current managing members of OM Global will be available to· assist and 

advise the Corporate Monitor, but will not exercise their traditional functions or assume their 

traditional duties during the' period that the Corporate Monitor is appointed .. 

II. Asset Freeze 

8, The Court hereby temporarily takes exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the 

assets, of whatever kind and wherever situated, of OM Global for the pu~pose. of preserving its 

assets. 

9, Except as otherwise specified herein, all assets of OM Globai are frozen until 

further Order of this Court, Accordingly, all persons and entities with direct or indirect control 

over any assets of OM Global, other than the Corporate Monitor, are hereby restrained and 

enjoined from directly or indirectly transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, selling, 

pledging, assigning, liquidating, or otherwise disposing of, or withdrawing such assets. This 

2 
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freeze shall include, but 110t be limited to, assets of OM Global that are on deposit with financial 

institutions such as banks, brokerage firms and mutual funds. 

III. General Powers and Duties 

10. The Corporate Monitor shall have all powers, authorities, rights and privileges 

heretofore possessed by the managing members of OM Global under applicable state and federal 

law, by the governing charters, by~laws, articles and/or agreements. 

11. The powers of the managing members, employees, and agents of OM Global are 

hereby suspended. Such persons and entities shall have no authority with respect to OM 

Global's operations or assets, except to the extent as may hereafter be expressly granted by the 

Corporate Monitor, The Corporate Monitor shall assume and control the operation of OM 

Global, and shall pursue and preserve all of its claims, 

12. No person holding or claiming any position of any sort with OM Global shall 

possess any authority to act by or on behalf of OM Global, unless so instruct.ed by the Corporate 

Monitor. 

13. The Cotporate Monitor shall have the following general powers and duties: 

A. To use reasonable efforts to determine the nature, location and value of all property 
interests of OM Global, including, but not limited to, monies, funds, securities, 
credits,. effects, goods, chattels, lands, premises, leases, claims, rights and ·other· 
assets, together with all rents, profits, dividends, interest or other income attributable 
thereto, of whatever kind, which OM Global owns, possesses, has a beneficial interest 
in, or controls directly or indtrectly; 

B. To take custody, control and possession of all OM Global's property and records 
relevant thereto; to sue for and collect, recover, receive and take into possession from 
third parties all property of OM Global and records relevant thereto; 

C, To manage, control, operate and maintain OM Global and hold in his possession, 
custody and control all property of OM.Global, pending further Order of this Court; 

D. To use property of OM Global, making payments and disbursements and incurring 
expenses as may be necessary or advisable in the ordinary course of business in 

3 
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discharging his duties as Corporate Monitor in maintaining the ordinary operations of 
OM Global; 

E. To take any action which, prior to the entry of this Order, could have been taken by 
the managing members, employees, and agents of OM Global with respect to 
maintaining its ordinary operations; 

F, To continue the normal operations of OM Global, including, but not limited to, 
accountants, attorneys, financial or business advisers, real estate agents, forensic 
experts, or brokers; 

G. To take such action as necessary and appropriate for the preservation of property of 
OM Global or to prevent the dissipation or concealment of property of OM Global; 

H. To pursue, resist and defend all suits, actions, claims and demands which may now be 
pending or which may be brought by or asserted against OM Global; 

" 
I. Take exclusive custody, control and possession of all funds, property, and other assets 

in the possession of, or under the control of OM Global, wherever situated that the 
Corporate Monitor has a reasonable basis to believe is related to this action. The 
Corporate Monitor shall have full power to sue for, collect, receive and take 
possession of all goods, chattels, rights, credits; moneys, effects, land, leases, books, 
records, work papers, and records of accounts, including computer-maintained 
information and digital data and other papers and documents; . 

J, Enter and inspect the business premises of OM Global and to.take documents or other 
property related to OM Global; 

K. Preserve, hold and manage all Corporate Monitorship assets, and perform all acts 
necessary to preserve the value of those assets, in order to prevent any loss, damage 
or injury to investors; 

L. Prevent the withdrawal or misapplication of funds entrusted to OM Global, and 
otherwise protect the interests of investors; 

M. Collect all money owed to OM Global; 

N. Initiate, defend, compromise, adjust, intervene in, dispose of, or become a party to 
any actions or proceedings in state, federal or foreign jurisdictions necessary to 
preserve or increase the assets of OM Global .and/or on behalf of OM Global and its 
investors and creditors against those individuals and/or entities which the Corporate 
Monitor may claim have wrongfully, illegally or otherwise improperly 
misappropriated or transferred monies or other proceeds directly or indirectly 
traceable from investors in OM Global, including OM Global and its managing 
members, employees, agents or any persons acting in concert or participation with 
them, or against any transfers of money or other proceeds directly or indirectly 

4 
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traceable from investors in OM Global; provided such actions may include, but not be 
limited to, seeking imposition of constructive trusts, disgorgement of profits, recovery 
and/or avoidance of fraudulent transfers under Florida Sfatute § 726.10 I, et. seq. or 

· otherwise, rescission and restitution, the collection of debts, and such Orders from 
this Court as may be necessary to enforce th.is Order;. 

0. Choose, engage, and employ attorneys, accountants, appraisers, and other 
independent contractors and technical· speCialists, as the Corporate Monitor deems 
advisable or necessary in the performance of dut.ies and responsibilities; 

P. Issue subpoenas to obtain documents and records pertaining to the Corporate 
Monitorship, and conduct discovery in this action on behalf of the Corporate 
Monitorship estate; 

Q. Open one or more bank or securities accounts as designated depositories for funds of 
OM Global. The Corporate Monitor shall deposit all funds of .OM Global in such 
designated accounts and shall make all payments and disbursements from the 
Corporate Monitorship estate from such accounts. The Corporate Monitor is 
authorized to invest Corporate Monitorship funds in U.S. Treasury securities, money 
market funds or other interest-bearing accounts as appropriate in the Corporate 
Monitor's judgment; 

R. Make payments ·and disbursements from the Corporate Monitorship estate that are 
necessary or advisable for ca·rrying out the directions of, or exercising the authority 
granted by, this Order; 

S. Close out all outstanding positions and/or hold such assets without further Order; . 

T. Advise the Court should it be determined that additional powers are necessary to 
protect the interests of investors, or whether conversion to a receiyership would be 
more suitable under the circumstances; and 

U. To take su~h other action as may be approved by this Court. 

IV. Access to Infotmation 

14. OM Global and its past and/or present .managing members, employees, and 

agents, as well as those acting in its place, are hereby ordered and directed to preserve and turri . . 

over to the Corporate Monitor forthwith all paper and electronic information of, and/or relating 

to, OM Global and/or its property; su((h information shall include, but not be limited to, books, 

records, docu~ents, accounts and all other instruments and papers, 
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15. OM Global's past and/or present managing members, employees and agents, and 

other appropriate persons or entities, shall answer under oath to the Corporate Monitor all 

questions which he may put to them and produce all documents as required by him regarding the 

business of OM Global, or any other matter relevant to the operation or administration of OM 

Global. In the event that the Corporate Monitor deems it necessary to require the appearance of 

the aforementioned persons or entities, the Corporate Monitor shall make his discovery requests 

in accordance with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. 

V. Access to Books, Records and Accounts 

16. The Corporate Monitor is authorized to take immediate possession of all bank 

accounts or other financial accounts, books and records and all other documents or instruments , 

relating to OM Global. 

17. Any persons receiving notice of this Order by personal service, electronic mail, 

facsimile transmission, or otherwise, having possession of the property, business, books, records, 

accounts or assets of OM Global are hereby directed to deliver the same to the Corporate 

Monitor, his agents and/or employees, 

18, All banks, brokerage firms, financial institutions, and other persons or entities 

which have possession, custody or control of any assets or funds held by, in the name of, or for 

the benefit of, directly or indirectly, of OM Global that receive actual notice of this Order by 

personal service, electronic mail, facsimile transmissio.n or otherwise shall: 

A. Not liquidate, transfer, sell, convey or otherwise transfer any assets, securities, funds, or 
accounts in the name 9f or for the benefit of OM Global except upon instructions from 
the Corporate Monitor; 

B. Not exercise any form of set-off, alleged set-off, lien, or any form of self-help 
whatsoever, or refuse to transfer any funds or assets to the Corporate Monitor's control 
without the permission of this Court; and 

6 
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C. Cooperate expeditiously in providing information and transferring funds, assets and 
accounts to the Corporate Monitor or at the direction of the Corporate Monitor. 

VI. Access to Personal Property 

19, The Corporate Monitor is authorized to take immediate possession of all personal 

property of OM Global, wherever located, including, but not limited to, electronically stored 

information, computers, laptops, hard drives, external storage drives, and any other such 

memory, media or electronic storage devices, books, papers, data processing records, evidence of 

indebtedness, bank records and accounts, savings records and accounts, brokerage records and 

accounts, certificates of deposit, stocks, bonds, debentures, and other secudties and investments, 

contracts, mortgages, furniture, office supplies and equipment. All records of OM Global shall 

be made available to the Corporate Monitor, 

20. The Corporate Monitor is authorized to open all mail directed to or received by or 

at the offices or post office boxes of OM Global, and to inspect all mail opened prior to the entry 

of this Order, to determine whether items or information therein fall within the mandates of this 

Order. 

21. Upon the request of the Corporate Monitor, the Sheriff and/or the United States 

Marshal Service, in any judicial district, is hereby ordered to assist the Corporate Monitor in 

carrying out his duties to take possession, custody anq control of, or identify the location of, any 

assets, records or other materials belonging to OM Global. 

VII. Delivery to Corporate Monitor 

22, Immediately upon service of this Order upon them, Defendants and any other 

person or entity served with a copy of this Order shall, immediately or within such time as 

permitted by the Corporate Monitor in writing, deliver over to the Corporate Monitor: 

A. Possession and custody of all funds and all other assets, belonging to OM Global; 

7 
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B. Possession and custody of documents of OM Globali including, but not limited to, 
all books and records of accounts, all financial and accounting records, balance 
sheets, income statements, bank records (including monthly statements, canceled 
checks, records of wire transfers, and check registers), investor lists, loan 
documents, title documents and other papers; 

C. All keys, computer passwords, entry codes, PIN numbers and combinations to 
locks necessary to gain or to secure access to any of the assets or documents of 
OM Global, including, but not limited to, access to business premises, means of 
communication, accounts, computer systems, or other property; and 

D. Information identifying the accounts, employees, properties or other assets or 
obligations of OM Global. 

VIII. Cooperation with Corporate Monitor 

23. Defendants, their managing members, employees and agents, and all .other 

persons or entities served with a copy of this Order, shall cooperate fully with and assist the 

Corporate Monitor in the performance of the Corporate Monitor's duties. This cooperation and 

assistance shall include, but not be limited to, providing any information to the Corporate 

Monitor that the Corporate Monitor deems necessary to exercising the authority and discharging 

the responsibilities of the Corporate Monitor under this Order; and advising all persons who' owe 

money to OM Global that all debts should be paid directly to the ·Corporate Monitor. However, . 

this requirement does not impinge on any person's right to assert applicable privileges. 

IX. Accounting 

24. Defendants shall prepare, sign and file with the Court, within ten (10) calendar 

days, a complete and accurate accounting for the yeriod of April 1, 2010 to the date of such 

accounting, which shall be no earlier than the date of this Order. Such accounting shall include, 

without limitation, the identification of: 

A. All banks and financial or brokerage institutions, including account numbers, 
which hold or have held funds, securities, commodity interests, assets, liabilities, 
and other property currently owned or controlled (legally, equitably or otherwise) 
directly or indirectly by OM Global, whether individually or jointly; 
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B. All funds, securities, commodity interests, real estate, assets, liabilities, and other 
property currently owned or controlled (legally, equitably or otherwise) directly 
or indirectly by OM Global, whether individually or jointly; · 

C. All funds, securities, (,)ommodity interests, real estate, assets and other property 
received directly or indirectly by OM Global, describing the source, amount, 
disposition, and current location of each listed item; 

D. All funds, securities, commodity interests, real estate, assets and other property 
transferred or otherwise disposed of directly or indirectly by OM Global, 
describing the source, amount, disposition, and current location of each listed 
item, including accounts or assets of OM Global· held by any bank and financial 
or brokerage institutions located inside and/or outside the territorial United States; 

E. All investors of OM Global, including name, address, telephone number and 
email, account number, deposit and withdrawal dates and amounts; and 

F. The names and ·last known addresses of each bailee, debtor or other person or 
entity currently holding any funds, securities, commodity interests, real estate, 
assets or other property owned or controlled (legally, equitably or otherwise) by 
OM Global, whether individu~lly or jointly. 

25. At a minimum, the accounting should also include a chronological schedule of all 

cash receipts and cash disbursements. In addition, each transaction shall be classified as business 

or personal. All business transactions s~all disclose the bu~iness purpose of the transaction. The 

accounting shall be provided in an electronic format such as Quicken, Excel, or other accounting . 

or electronic format spreadsheet. In addition, Defendants shall supply true and accurate copies of 

any balance sheets" income statements, statements of cash flow, or statements of ownership 

equity previously prepared for OM Global's business(es). 

X .. Notice to Third Parties 

26. The Corporate Monitor shall promptly give notice of his appointment, as he 

deems necessary or advisable to effectuate the operation of his appointment. 

27; All persons and entities owing any obligation or debt to OM Global shall, until 

further ordered by this Court, pay all such obligations in accordance with the terms thereof to the 
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Corporate Monitor and his receipt for such payments shall have the same force and effect as if 

OM Global had received such payment. 

28. The Corporate Monitor is authorized to instruct the United States Postmaster to 

hold and/or reroute mail which is related, directly or indirectly, to the business, operations or 

activities of OM Global (the 1'Corporate Monitor's Mail"), including all mail addressed to, or for 

the benefit of, OM Global. The Postmaster shall not comply with, and shall immediately report 

to the Corporate Monitor, any change of address or other instruction given by anyone other than 

the Corporate Monitor concerning the Corporate Monitor's Mail. OM Global shall not open any 

of the Corporate Monitor's Mail and shall immediately turn over such mail, regardless of when 

received, to the Corporate Monitor. All personal mail of any individual, and/or any mail 

appearing to contain privileged information, and/or any mail not falling within the mandate of 

the Corporate Monitor, shall be released to the named addressee by the Corporate Monitor, The 

foregoing instructions shall apply to any proprietor, whether individual or entity, of any private 

mail box, depository, business or service, or mail .courier or delivery service, hired, rented or 

used by OM Global. OM Global shall not open a new mailbox, or take any steps or make any 

arrangements to receive mail in contravention of this Order, whether through the U.S. Mail, a 

private mail depository or courier service. 

29. The Corporate Monitor is authorized to assert, prosecute and/or negotiate any 

claim under any insurance policy held by or issued on behalf of OM Global, its managing 

members, employees or agents, and to take any and all appropriate steps in connection with such 

policies. 

XI. Injunction against Interference 

30. OM Global and all persons receiving notice of this Order by personal service, 

electronic mail, facsimile transmission or otherwise, are hereby restrained and enjoined from 
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directly or indirectly taking any action or causing any action to be taken, without the express 

written agreement of the Corporate Monitor, which would: 

A. Interfere with the Corporate Monitor's efforts to take control, possession, or 
management of any of OM Global' s property; such prohibited actions include, but are 
not limited tb, usfng self-help or execµting or issuing or causing the execution or 
issuance of any court attachment, subpoena, replevin, execution, or other process for 
the purpose of impounding or taking possession of or interfering with or creating or 
enforcing a lien upon any of OM Global's property; 

B. Hinder, obstruct or otherwise interfere with the Corporate Monitor in the performance 
of his duties; such prohibited actions include, but are not limited to, concealing, 
destroying or altering records or information; 

C .. Dissipate or otherwise diminish the value of any of OM Global's property; such 
prohibited actions include, but are not limited to, releasing claims or disposing, 
transferring, exchanging, assigning or in any way conveying any of OM Global's 

· property, enforcing judgments, assessments or claims against OM Global or its 
property, attempting to modify,. cancel, terminate, call, extinguish', revoke or 
accelerate (the due date), of any lease, loan, mortgage, indebtedness, security 
agreement or other agreement executed by OM Global or which otherwise affects any 
of its property; 

D, Dissipate, withdraw, transfer, remove, dispose or conceal any cash, cashier's checks, 
funds, assets or other property of, or within the custody, control or actual or 
constructive possession. of OM Global, including, but not limited to, all funds, 
personal property, money or securities held in OM Global's name, jointly or 
individually, whether held or maintained in safety deposit boxes, and including all 
funds on . deposit in any financial or brokerage institution, futures commission 
merchant, bank or savings and loan account held by; under the actual or constructive 
control, or in the name of OM Global, jointly or individually, funds or property of 
OM Global's investors, wherever located, whether held in the name of the OM 
Global, jointly or individually, or any other entity owned or controlled by OM Global, 
jointly or individually; . . 

E. Destroy, mutilate, conceal, alter or dispose of, in any manner, any of the books and 
records, documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically stored data, 
tape records or other property of OM Global wherever located, including all such 
records concerning OM Global's business operations; or 

F, Interfere with or harass the Corporate Monitor, or interfere in. any manner with the 
exclusive jurisdiction of this Court over OM Global. 
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31. OM Global, its managing members, employees and agents, and all other persons 

or entities served with a copy of this Order, shall cooperate with and assist the Corporate 

Monitor in the performance of his duties. 

32. The Corporate Monitor shall promptly notify the Court of any failure or apparent ' 

failure of any person or entity to comply in any way with the terms of this Order, 

33. The injunctive provisions of this Order shall be binding on Defendants, upon any 

person insofar as he or she is acting in the capacity of managing members, employees and 

agents, and upon any person who receives actual notice of this Order by personal service, 

electronic mail, facsimile transmission or otherwise, including Federal Express or other 

commercial overnight service. 

XII. Directives to Financial Institutions 

34. Pending further Order of this Court, any financial or brok~rage institution, 

business entity, or person that holds, controls, or maintains custody of any account, funds, 

securities, assets or other property of any kind owned, controlled, managed, or held by, on behalf 

of, or for the benefit of OM Global, or has held, controlled, or maintained custody of any 

account, funds, securities, assets 01· other property of any kind owned, controlled, managed, or 

held by, on behalf of, or for the benefit of OM Global at any time since, shall: 

A. Provide to the Corporate Monitor, within five (5) business days of receiving a 
copy of this Order, a statement setting forth: (a) the identification number of each 
and every such account or asset titled ,in the name, individually or jointly, of OM 
Global, or owned, controlled, managed, or held by, on behalf of, or for the benefit 
of OM Global; (b) the balance of each such account, or a description of the nature 
and value of such asset as of the close of business on the day on which this Order 
is served, and, if the account or other asset has been closed or removed, the date 
closed or removed, the total funds removed in order to close the account, and the 
name of the person or entity to whom such account or other asset was remitted; 
and (c) the identification of any safe deposit box that is either titled in the name, 
individually or jointly, of OM Global or is otherwise subject to access by OM 
Global; and · 
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B. Upon request by the Corporate Monitor, promptly provide him with copies of all 
records or other documentation pertaining to such account or asset, including, but 
not limited to, originals or copies of account applications, account statements, 
signature cat·ds, checks, drafts, deposit tickets, transfers to and from the accounts, 
all other debit and credit instructions or slips, currency transactions reports, 1099 
forms, and safe deposit box logs; 

C. Prohibit Defendants and any person other than the Corporate Monitor from 
withdrawing, removing, assigning, transferring, pledging, encumbering, 
disbursing, dissipating, converting, selling or otherwise disposing of any such 
asset except as directed by further Order of this Court; 

D. Deny Defendants and any person other than the Corporate Monitor access to any 
safe deposit box that is titled in the name of OM Global, either individually or 
jointly; .or otherwise subject to access by the Defendants; and 

E. Cooperate with all reasonable requests of the Corporate Monitor relating to 
implementation of this Order, including producing records related to OM Global's 
accounts and business(es). 

XIII. Stay of Litigation 

35. Except for the instant action and any police or regulatory actions related to OM 

Global, and with the further exception as noted in Paragraph 38, the following proceedings are 

stayed until further Order of this Court: 

All civil legal proceedings of any nature, including, but not limited to, bankruptcy 
proceedings, arbitration proceedings,. foreclosure actions, default proceedings, or 
other actions of any nature involving: (a) the Corporate Monitor, in his capacity as 

· such; (b) any of OM Global's property, wherever located; (c) OM Global, 
· including subsidiaries, partnerships, and entities owned or controlled· by OM 

Global; or (d) any of OM Global's past or present managing members, 
employees, or agents sued for, or in connection with, any action taken by them 
while actlng ln such capacity of any nature, whether as plaintiff, defendant, third
party plaintiff, third-party defendant, or otherwise (such proceedings are 
hereinafter referred to as "Ancillary Proceedings"). 

36, The parties to any and all Ancillary Proceedings are enjoined from commencing 

or continuing any such legal proceeding, or from taking any action, in connection with any such 

proceeding, including, but not limited to, the issuance or employment of process. 
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37.. All Ancillary Proceedings are stayed in their entirety, and all Courts having any 

jurisdiction thereof are enjoined from taking or permitting any action until further Order of this 

Comt. Further, as to a cause of action accrued or accruing in favor of OM Global against a third 

person or party, any applicable statute of limitation is tolled during the period in which· this 

injunction against commencement of legal proceedings is in effect as to that cause of action, 

38. "Ancillary Proceedings" specifically excludes any pending litigation in which any 

Defendant is a party. With respect to those proceedings, the Corporate Monitor shall review 

them and recommend further action within 30 days. 

·XIV. Managing Assets 

39. The Corporate Monitor may establish one or more custodial accounts at a 

federally insured bank to receive and hold all funds of OM Global. Such deposit accounts shall 
' I 

be entitled "Corporate Monitor's Account for OM Global." 

XV. Conflicts of Interest 

40. The Corporate Monitor has a continuing duty to ensure that there are no conflicts 

of interest between himself and OM Global. 

XV~. Limitations on Liability of Corporate Monitor and His Agents 

41. Until further Order of this Court, the Corporate Monitor shall not be required to 

post bond or give an undertaking of any type in connection with his fiduciary obligations in this 

matter. 

42. The Corporate Monitor and all persons hired by Corporate Monitor are entitled to 
rely on all outstanding rules ·o~ law and Orders, and shall not be liable to. anyone for their own 

good faith compliance with any Order, r~le, law, judgment or decree. In no event shall the 

Corporate Monitor or p~rsons hired by Corporate Monitor be liable to anyone (1) with respect to 

the performance of their duties and responsibilities as Corporate Monitor or persons hired by 
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Corporate Monitor, or (2) for any actions taken or omitted.by them, except upon. a finding by this 

Court that they acted or failed to act as a result of malfea~ance, bad faith, gross negligence, or in 

reckless disregard of their duUes. Nothing in this provision is intended to provide a defernie 

against llability for any actions taken by Defendants or their personnel prior to the appointment 

of Corporate Monitor. 

43. This Court ~hall retain jurisdiction over any action filed against the Corporate 

Monitor or his agents based upon acts or omissions committed i.n their representative capacities. 

44. In the event the Corporate Monitor decides to resign, he shall first give written 

notice to Plaintiff's counsel of record and the Court of his intention, and the resignation shall not 

be effective until the Court appoints a successor. The Corporate Monitor shall then follow such 
' ' ' 

instructions as the Court may provide. 

XVII. Recommendations and Reports 

45. Upon his appointment, the Corporate Monitor shall perform an assessment of the 

viability of OM Global as a going business enterprise and options and alternatives for its future. 

46. Within 30 days of the entry date of this Order, the Corporate Monitor shall file 

with the Court and serve on the parties a report of his conclusions and recommendations, 

47. The Corporate Monitor shall maintain written accounts, itemizing receipts and 

expenditures, describirig properties held or managed, and naming the depositories of Corporate 

Monitorship funds; make such written accounts and supporting documentation available to 

Plaintiff and other investors for inspection, and, within ninety (90) days of being appointed and 

every ninety (90) days thereafter file with the Court and serve on the parties a report 

summarizing efforts to marshal and collect assets, administer the Corporate Monitorship estate, 

and otherwise perform the duties mandated by this Order. 
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XVIII. Fees, Expenses, and Accountings 

48, The Corporate Monitor need not obtain Court approval prior to the disbursement 

of OM GlobaFs funds for expenses in the ordinary course of the administration and management 

of OM Global. Further, prior Court approval is not required for payments of applicable federal, 

state or local taxes. 

49, The Corporate Monitor and all personnel he retains are entitled to compensation 

deemed to be reasonable and appropriate for their work, 

SO. The Corporate Monitor has issued retainer payments of $25,000,00 each from 

OM Global's account to Defendants' counsel (Gary Klein, Esq,, of The Klein Law Group) and 

Plaintiffs counsel (Jeffrey C. Schneider, Esq., of Levine Kellogg Lehman Schneider +· 

Grossman LLP), which have been held in the interim in trust and may be deposited into each 

respective firm's operating account upon issuance of this Order, 

51. Awards and payments of all fees and expenses to the Corporate Monitor and his 

professionals shall be done under the following procedure without further Order of this Court.: 

A. The Corporate Monitor and his professionals shall serve their statements for 
services for the previous month on counsel for parties in this action. The 
Corporate Monitor and his professionals shall file with the Court a Notice of 
Request for Payment of Fees and Expenses ("Fee Request Notice11

), The Fee 
Request Notice shall state the amount of fees and expenses requested by the 
Corporate Monitor and his professionals, attach copies of the statements for 
services and contain a certificate of service evidyncing service on counsel as 
required by this Order, Both the Corporate Monitor's and his professionals' 
statements shall contain the daily hours spent on Corporate Monitorship matters, 
Service of each Fee Request Notice may be by U.S. Mail and electronic mail. 

B. If any party wants to object to payment of the fees and expenses requested by the 
Corporate Monitor or his professionals, the objecting party must file and serve on 
the Corporate Monitor, his counsel and all counsel listed in the Fee Request 
Notice a written objection specifying the basis for the objection. The objection 
must be filed and served no later than fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of 
the service of the Fee Request Notice, Service of an objection shall be by U.S. 
Mail and electronic mail on the Corporate Monitor and his counsel, and by U.S. 
Mail and electronic mail to all other parties. Any party failing to timely file and 
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c. 

52, 

serve an objection to a request for payment of fees and expenses shall be deemed 
to have waived its right to object to payment pursuant to the request, 

If a timely objection to a request for fees and expenses is not filed and served 
within fifteen (15) calendar days after service of the Corporate Monitor's and his 
professionals' Fee Request Notice, the Corporate Monitor is authorized to 
immediately pay the statements from his accounts. If a timely filed objection to a 
request is filed and served, any party in interest may notice the objection for a 
hearing before the Court. · 
The· compensation of the Corporate Monitor and all personnel hired by the 

Corporate Monitor shall be entitled to priority as administrative expenses. The Corporate 

. Monitor shall not increase the hourly rates used as the bases for .such fee applications without 

prior approval of the Court. 

XI){, Service of This Order 

53. Copies of this Order may be served by any means, including by way of personal 

service, Federal Express or other commercial overnight service, email or facsimile, upon any 

financial institution. or other entity or person that.may have possession, custody, or control of any 

documents or assets of OM Global or that may be subject to any provision of this Order, The 

Corporate Monitor, his agents, Plaintiff, and Plaintiffs agents are hereby specially appointed to 

serve process, and/or effectuate service of process, including this Order £lnd all other papers in 

this cause. 

XX, Preservation of Rights and Privileges 

54. Nothing in this Order shall be construed to require that any Defendants abandon 

or waive any constitutional or legal privilege which they may have available to them. 

XXI. NoBond 

55. The Corporate Monitor is appointed without bond. 
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XXII. Court Maintains Jurisdiction 

56. This Order shall remain in full force and effect during the pendency of this case, 

or until further Order of this Court, upon application, notice and an opportunity to be heard, and 

that this Court retains jurisdiction of this matter for all purposes related to this action, 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida, on 05/29/13. 

~?~~/ 'DAR · i.TRAWrcK ~~~ 
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 

The parties served with this Order are indicated In the accompanying 11th Circuit email 
confirmation which includes all emails provided by the submitter. The movant shall 
IMMEDIATELY serve a true and correct copy of this Order, by mail, facsimile, email or 
hand-delivery, to all parties/counsel of record for whom service is not indicated by the 
accompanying 11th Circuit confirmation, and file proof of service with the Clerk of 
Court. 

Signed and stamped original Order sent to court file by Judge Trawlck's staff. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASENOi: 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
v. ) 

) 
OM INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LLC, ) 
GIGNESH MOVALIA and . ) 
EDWIN V. OA W ) 

) 
Defeud1mts. ) 

·COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. The Commission brings this action to enjoin Defendant OM Investment 

Management LLC, fo1merly a 1·egistered investment adviser, its principal, Defendant·Gignesh 

Movalia1 and its managing director of investments, Defendant Edwin Gaw, from continuing to 

defraud investors through efforts to fraudulently raise money for the OM Global Investment 

Fund, LLC, an unregistered pooled investment vehicle fund formed in 2009 .. 

2. On May 29, 2013, as part of an investor lawsuit against Movnlia imJ OM· 

Global, the Miami-Dade County Circuit Court entered an: agi·eed order to freeze' all assets of OM 

Global and to appoint a corporate monitor to oversee· the continued management and ultimate 

dissolution of OM Global following allegations of corporate mismanagement. 

Case 1:14-cv-22150-CMA   Document 19-2   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/14/2014   Page 1 of 25



Case 1: 14-cv-22150-CMA Document 17-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 07 /09/2014 Page 2 of 25 

Case 1:13-cv-23486-XXXX Document ·1 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/27/2013 Page 2 of 25 

3, Despite that ordel', Movnlia and OM Investment Management have continued to 

illegally solicit investments and raise mon~y for OM Glob.al and have collected funds through !l 

.bank account they did not di.sclose to the COUl't 01' the corporate monitor, 

4. Movalia also hus transferred funds from th~ illegal fundraising activities to his 

own personal account and has made unauthotized loans and other unauthoriz.ed investments. 

5. In addition, OM Investment Management has. made material mi8representations 

and omissions to investors conceming, inter a/la, the holdings of OM Global, the value of the 

fund, the identity and duties of the fund's auditor, sub-adviser, and administrat6r1 the 1\ind's . 

entry into related party transaotlons, and the placement of fund assets in unauthorized and 

undisclosed Investments. In addition; MovaHa and OM Investment Management have 

distributed fabricated. account statements, made folse statements i11 regulatory. filings with the 

Commission, and have failed to comply with Commission laws and rules concerning the 

operation of an advisory business, investment fund, and the offering .tt?d sale of securities. 

6. As a result of the conduct described in this Complaint, Defendants violated 

Sections S(a), S(c) and 17(a) of the Securities :A-ct of 1933 ('1Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C, §§ 

77e(a), 77e(c), and 77q(a)(l); Section lO(b) nnd Rule lOb-S of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 US.C, § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a); and Sections 206(1), 

206(2) and 206(4) and Rule 206(4)-8 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ("Advisers Act"), 

1$ U.S.C, §§ 80b-6(1), 80b-6(2), 80b-6(4), and 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8. OM Investment 

Management and Movalia also violated Section 207 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b·7, find 

alded and abetted OM Global's violation of Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 

(''Investment Company Act"), 15 .U.S.C. § 80a-7(a), In addition1 OM Investment Ma'nagement 

violnted Sections 203A and 206(4) and Rule 206(4)·2 of the.Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C~ §§ 80b-3n, 

-2-
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80b-6(4), 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-2, and Movalla aided aud abetted OM Investment 

Management's violations of these provisions. Unless rest1·ained and enjoined, Defendants ·are· 

reasonably likely to continue to violate the federal securities laws. 

7. The Comtnission respectfully requests that .the Court enter: (a) a pennahent 

injunction restraining and enjoining Defendants from. violating the federal secut'ides .laws: (b) an· 

order directing Defendants OM Investment Management and Movalia to pay disgorgement with 

prejudgment interest; (c) an order directing Defendants to pay civil money penalties; (d) an order 

freezing the assets of Defendants OM Investment Management and Movalia; (e) an order 

requiring Defendants OM Investment Management and Movalia to provide an accounting; and 

(t) an order requiring Defendants to preserve records. 

II. DEFENDANTS 

8. OM Investment Management is a Florida limited liability company fonned by 

Movalin in 2007, with its principal place of business in Tampa, Florida. Until May 29, 2013, it 

was the managing member and investmeiit adviser of OM Global. OM Investment Management 

was an investment adviser registered with the Commission until July 15, 2013. 

9.. Movalia, age 37, resides in Land o~ Lakes, Florida.· He is the managing 
. . 

member and co-owner of OM Investment Management and directed the activities of OM Global. 

10, ·Gaw, age 48; resides in Weston, Massachusetts. Gaw is the managing director 

of investments fol' OM Investment Management. 
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III. JUIUSDICTION AND VENUE 

11. The Court has jurisdicticln over 'this action pursuant to Secti~ns 20(b), 20(d), and 

2~(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d) and 77v'(a); Sections 21(d) an~ 27 of the. 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78aa; Sections 209 and 214 of the Advisers Act, 15 

U.S,C. §§ 80b-9 and 80b·14; and Section 44 of the Investment.Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-

43. 

12, This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendap.ts, and venue is proper in the 

Southem Distr!ct of Florida, because Defendants offered or sold securities in OM Global to at · 

least three investors in this District. In addition, venue is proper in the Southern District of 

Florida because investors whom Defendants defrauded reside in this Distriqt. Furthennore, 

venue is proper in the Southern District of Florida because the corporate monitor overseeing OM 

Global is based in this District and the Miami-Dade County Circuit Court, which has authority 

over the monitor, also is located in the District. 

13, In c01mection with the conduct alleged in this Complairtt1 Defen(}ants, directly 

and indirectly, singly or in ·concert with others, have made use of the means or irtstnunentalities 

. of interstate commerce, the ineans or instruments of transportation and communication in 

interstate commerce, and the mails, 

IV. DEFENDANTS' FRAUDULENT CONDUC'f 

A. Mi:srepreseutntlons nnd Omissions 

n. Facebool~ Investment 

14. Movalia fom1ed OM Global in August 2007 and began raising money for the fund 

in 2010, but Initial fundraising efforts were minimal. 
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15, In mid-2011, Movalia began soliciting investors by representing he had access to 

pre-JPO shares of Facebook, Inc. No· later than Juµuary 2012, Gaw also began soliciting 

investors by touting OM Olobal's access to pre~IPO Facebook shares. By the end of 2012, 

Defendants had raised more than $15.5 million for OM GJobaJ, of which Gaw raised $472,000, 

Many of the investors were advisory clients of OM Investment Management, Movalia and/or 

Gaw. In addition, Gaw1s immediate family members invested $500,000 in the fund. 

16. Movalin and Gow solicited direct investments in OM Global cmd also directed 

several investors to invest in the fund by opening and funding separately managed accounts that 

gave OM Investment Mana~ement, Movalia, and/or Gaw trading authorization as the account 

· investme11t adviser, although Gaw did not engage in any trading for the fund. 

17. Movalia and Gaw told investors during 2011 and 2012 that they would be 

invested solely in Facebook shares, which had a six~month lock up period. 

18. Movalia and OM lnvestmentMattagement also executed a side letter with certain 

investors, which specified that OM Global would use the investor ft)nds excJuslvely to purchase 

pre-IPO shares of Facebook at designated prices. The side lettet further stated OM Global W<?llld 

account for the investment separately within the fund in a so~called '(side pocket.;, · 

19. . Contrary to the representations in the side letter, OM Investment Management did 

not segregate pre-IPO Facebook shaxes in a .. side pocket" for any investors. Instead, OM 

Investment Management combined the pre-IP? Facebook .sl111res with the other investments in 

the fund. 

b. Investol' Account Statements and Marketing Materials 

20. Movalia and OM Irivestinent Management distributed to ·OM Global investors 

false account statements through a Morningstar website that included fabricated holdings and 
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uccount valuations. For example, one investor account statement, dated as of May 161 2013 1 

listed the nccount value as $74,657.14 and stated the account was 100% Invested in Facebook, 

· Inc. Class A shares. In fact, in May 2013, OM Global held no position in Facebook stock 

bl;lcimse Movalia hnd sold all of OM Global's Facebook shares in November 2012. 

21. Defendants also provided investors with marketing materials, which represented 

that OM GlobaPs portfolio would consist of 11highly liquid, listed global equities exclusively." 

22. In material deviation from the investment strategy .disclosed· in the marketing 

materials, Movalia and OM Investment Management used a significant portion of OM Global's 

assets to make loans from OM Global to a series of related parties. 

23. For example, OM Global loaned $1.8 million to a related entity that paid Movalia 

$23,000 for purported consulting services. As of December 2010, Movalia was the prinCipal of 

that related entity, which was the parent company to an investme11t advise!' and hedge fund both 

of which, as of December 2010, Movalia also served as principal. As of March 2013, Movalia 

provided consulting services to these entities. 

24. In 2012, OM Global also loaned $1 million ton dental practice that paid Movalia 

at least $22,000 for purported consulting services. 

25. Movalia and OM Investment Management never disclosed these related party 
' ' 

transactions or that OM Global had made any loans at. all. Moreover, the fund's Private 

Placement Memorandum ("PPM.,) did not discuss even the possibility that the fund could enter 

into such related party transactions, 

26. OM Investment Management and Movalia also redeemed investors from .OM · 

Global using the market value of Facebook shares at the time of the redemption· (even though 
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Movalia already had sold all of OM G1obal's Facebook shares) instead of basing the t'edemptions 

on the net value of the assets under management ("NA V"). 

c. Offering Materials 

27. Defendants distribi1ted to prospective investors offo1'ing materials represen~ing 

that OM Global would: (1) provide investors with audited financial statements; (2) engage the 

services of a sub-adviser; and (3) use a third-party administrator. 

28, Contrary to these offering rn!lterials, however, OM Global never prepared audited 

financial statements or utilized a sub-adviser. In addition, OM Global discontim1ed reports from 

a third-party administrator after 2011. 

29, Movitlia and OM Investment Management also prnvided prospective OM Global . 

investors with a due diligence questiom1aire, which misrepresented that Movalia had personally 

invosted $225 ,000 in the fund and that no investo1· held more than 5% of the fund's total assets, 

30, According to the PPM, OM Investment Mannge.ment was entitled to management 

and performance fees from OM Global. 

B. Violation of Court Order 

31. On May 24, 2013, an investor in OM Global filed a lawsuit in Miami~Da<le 

County Circi.iit Court ngainst Movalia. and OM Global. Citing allega.tions of corporate 

rnis.tnal)agement, the lawsuit sought an injunction over the accounts held in the name of the fund, 

an accounting of the fund's transactions, and the appointment o.f n corporate monitor to take 

control of the fund. 

32. On May 29, 2013, with the agreement of both Movalia and OM Global, the 

Miami-Dade County Circuit Coi1rt entered an orqer freezing all assets of OM Global and 
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appointing a COl'porate monito1· to oversee the continued managemetit and ultimate dissolution of 

OM Global. 

33. Movalia and OM Investment Management failed to disclose to the court and to 

the corporate monitor the existence of at least one bank account in the m11ne of OM Global; LP 

("OM LP"), a Delaware limited partnership that Movalia had formed t.t few months before the 

corporate monitor was appointed. On May 24, 2013, four days.prior to the entry of the order 

freezing assets, the undisclosed account received $380,000 from lnve:Stors, On May 28, 2013, 

,Movalia. misappropriated $330;000 of this new investor money and transferre4 it - without 

disclosure to the n.ew investors -.to a start-up company for which he was raising capital. 

34. On May 20, 2013, Gaw, although unaware that a motion to appoint the corporate 

monitor was pending at that time in the Miomi-Dade County Circuit Court, executed an 

investment agreement on behalf of OM Global to invest $50,00Q 1n anothel' start-up company. 

On May 28, 2013, Movalia transferred $501000 from the undisclosed OM. LP account to fund 
I 

this investment. 

35. Movalia's capital~raising nctivities continued after the appointment of the 

corporate moni~or. On July 5, 2013, Movalia sent an existing OM Global investor a text 

message stating OM GlobaPs NAV had increased 7.2% in value during June. That same day, 

the investor invested nn additional $45,000 in what the investor thought was OM Global through 

the undisclosed OM LP account. At 110 time, however, did Movatia tell the unsuspecting 

investor that OM LP existed, that it was a separate entity from OM ·01obtil1 or that the account 

into which the investor was wiring funds was an OM LP account and not ah OM Global account. 

Movalia also did not disclose to .the unsuspecting investor that OM Global was being dissolved 

or that his advisory business was under regulatory scrutiny. 
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36, When the investor confronted Movalia with the corporate monitor's notice, 

Movulia responded that he was continuing to l'aise money for OM Global and falsely claimed 

that the unwinding procedure was routine and that the federal g~vemment had .audited OM 

Global and found nothing wrong or suspicious with the fund. 

37. On July 5, 2013, Movalia transferred $35,000 of the newly-raised funds to his 

personal b~nk account. He later returned the funds on th~ advice of his connsel. 

38. On July 8, 2013, Movalia met with a group of prospe~tive investors in New Jersey 

to solicit additional investments in OM Global. Again, he did not disclose that OM Global wus 

being dissolved 01" that his advisory business was urider regulatory scrutiny. 

C, Improper Registration 

39, Movalia registered OM Investment Management with the CommissiOn as an 

investment adviser from October 2007 until July 15, 2013. 

40. During the· time it was reiistered with the Commission, OM Investment. 

Management never claimed more than $56.3 million in assets under mnnagement a,qsociated with 

its advisory business. 

41. Section 203A 11119 Rl1le 203A·l of'the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80bw3a and 17 

C.F.R. § 275.203A-1, prohibit investment advisers from registering with the Commission when 

they have less than $100 million in assets under management. 

42, Movalia launched OM Global in 2009 and commenced activity in 2010. Movalia 

and OM Investment Management operated OM Global as a pooled investment vehicle, buying 

and selling securities on behalf of investors in the fund. OM Global was, and held itself out ns 

being, engaged primnrily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities, At no 

. time, however, was OM Global l'egistered with the Commission as an investment company, 
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43. Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Aot, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(a),. requires 

investment companies to be registered with the Commission absent an applicable exemption. 

The OM Global PPM stated that it was exempt from registering as an investment company under 

Section 3(c)(I) of the Investment Company Act. 

44. Section 3(c)(l) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-3(c)(l), only 

provides on exemption from registration as an investment company when there are 100 or fewer 

beneficial owners of a fund. Movalia and OM Investment Management raised money, however, 

from more than I 00 individuals and entities, each of whom was ll beneficial owner of OM 

Global. 

45, In addition, Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Com}Jauy Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a·. 

3(c)(7), provides an exemption for n fund if its investors are "qualified purchasers," Qualified 

pttrchasers are further defined in Sectio11 2(a)(51), 15 U.S.C. § 80a-2(a)(51), as, among other 

things, individuals and entities holding not less than $5 million in investment assets. 

46. MovaUa raised money on behalf of OM Global from at least 30 investors who 

were not qualified purchasers. 

47, Defendants also failed to i·egister the offer and sale of investment interests in OM 

Global with the Commission. Subject to certain exemptions, Section 5 of the Se.curities Act, 15 

U.S.G. § 77e, requires the offer or sale of all securities to be registered with the Commission. 

Under Regulation D of the Securities Act, howeyer, exemptions are available for certain 

offerings. Specifically, when uliaccredited investors are included in an offering exceeding $5 

million, an audited finapcial statement must be provided to the investors under Rules 502(b) and 

506 of Regulation D, 17 C,F.R. §§ 230,502(b) and 230.506, to avoid registering the offer or sale 

of securities, An accredited investor is defined in Rule 50I(a), 17 C.F.R. § 230.SOl(a), and 
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includes, nmong other things; any person with an annual income of at least $20~,000 in each of 

the previous two years. 

48. No ~uch exemption from registration was available 'ror OM Globnl's sem1l'ities 

since OM Investment Management never obtained audited financial statements for the fund, 

rais.ed at least $15,S million from investors, and recruited at least 30 individuals who were 

unaccredited investors. 

D. False Filings 

49. Movalia completed and signed OM hwestment Management's Fonn ADV 

filings for 2012 and 2013. 

50. In the 2012 and 2013 Form ADV Part lA filings, OM Investment Management 

and Movalia stated the firm's regulatory assets under maMgement were approximately $56.3 

million. 

51. As part of the $56.3 million of regulatory assets \lnder management~ Movalia 

included $29 million that was associated with anothel' entity for which.he pwportedly provided· 

consulting services. · Movalia did not provide those consulting sei'Vices, howevet', iu his capacity 

as an investment 'adviser. Rather, he described his consulting work as "advice, business 

consulting, and business acumen." Movalia further stated he provided "advice choosing a bahk, . 

healthcare financing sqlutions, ·asset protection planning, denned benefit planning, basic 

valuation guidance, practice acquisitlo.n guidance, financing assistance, and general financial 

planning,11 

52. In· addition, in the 2012 Fonn ADV Part IA filings, OM Investment 

Management and Movalia stated they 4id not have custody of client assets, OM Global, 

however, was, at all relevant times, a client of OM Investment Management and Movrilia, both 
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of whom hnd custody of OM Global's assets. OM Investment Management a11d Movalia also 

stnted in the 2012 Form ADV Part lA filings that they did not advise pooled investment 

vehicles, OM Global, however, was, at all relevant times, a pooled investment.vehicle, 

COUNT I 

FRAUD IN THE OFFER Oll SALE OF SECURITIES 
IN VlOLATlON OF SEQTION 17(a)(l) OF THE SECURITIES AC'£ 

(Against All Defendants) · 

53. The Commission realleges and incorpomtes by refe1·ence paragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set forth herein, 

54. By engaging in. the conduct described above, Defendants directly and irtdirectly,. 

by use of the means or instnnnents of transportation or conununication in interstate commerce 

and by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as descl'ibed in this Complaint, 

knowingly, willfully or recklessly employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud. 

55. By reason of the foregoing; Defendants directly and indirectly violated, and, 

unless restrained aud enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section l 7(a)(I) of 

the Securities Act, 15 .D.S.C. § 77q(a)(l). 

COUNT II 

FRAUD lN TlIE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIBS. 
lN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 17(n)(2) und 17(a)(3)0FTHE SECU.EYT.ms ACT 

(Against All Defendants) 

56. The Conunlssion realleges and incoiporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

57. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants, directly and 

indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communi.cution in interstate 

commerce and by the use of the mails, in the offer or sa.le of securities: (a) obtained money or 
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property by means of untrue statements of material facts and omissions to state material facts 

necessary to make 'the statements made1 in the light of the circumstances i.mder which they were 

made, not mi.sleading; or (b) engaged i11 transactions, practices and courses of business which are 

~ww operating and will operate as a fraud or deceit upon purcht'lsers and prospective purchasers 

of such securities, 

58. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants directly and indirectly violated, and, 

unless restrained and enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Sections I 7(a)(2) and 

l 7(a)(3) of the Secusities Act, 15 U.S,C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3), 

COUNT III 

FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF SECURITIES 
IN VIOLATION OF SEC1'ION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 

AND RYLE 10b·5 
(Ag11inst All Defcn~ants) 

59. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

60, By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants, dfrectly and 

indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails in 

connection with the pul'ohase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) 

employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts 

and omitting to state mnterinl facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, 

practices and courses of business which have· operated, are now operating and will operate as n . . 

fraud upon the purchasers of s1lch sec\lrities, 
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61. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants directly and indirectly violated, and, 

unless restrained and enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section lO(b) and 

Rule lOb-5 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C, § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240. lOb-5. 

COUNT IV 

FRAUD BY INVESTMENT ADVISERS IN VIOLATION OF 
SECTIONS 206(1) AND 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

(Against All Defendants) 

62. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 th.rough 

52 as if fully set forth ~erein, 

63. At all releva11l times, Defendants were investment advisers within the meaning 

of Section 202(a)( 11) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-2(a)( 11). 

64. By engaging in the conduct described 11bove, Defendants, by using the mails or 

the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, while acting as 

investment adviserS, knowingly, willfully, or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes, or 

artiflces to defraud clients or prospective clients; and (b) engaged in transactions, pmctices, and 

courses of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon clients .or prospective} cllents, · 

65. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants directly and indirectly violated, nnd, 

unless restrnined and enjoined, are reasonably likely to contim1e to violate, ·sections 206(1) .and 

206(2) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ ~Ob-6(1) and 80b·6(2), 

COUNTY 

FRAUD :tN VIOLATION OF SECTION 206(4) 
AND RULE 206(4)-8 OF THE ADVISJ.i:RS ACT 

. (Against All Defendants) 

66. The Commission renlleges and incorporates by reference pnragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set fo1th herein. 
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67, At all relevant times, Defendants were investment advisers. within the meaning 

of Section 202(a)(l 1) of cl1e Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-2(a)(l l ). 

68, 13y engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants, by using the mails or 

the means or instrumentalities of interstate commetce, directly or indfrectly, while acting as 

inVe$tment advisers: (a) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state fl matel'ial fact 

necessary to make the statements made, ill the light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading to any investor or prospective investors in an OM Investme11t 

Management-managed fund, a pooled investment vehicle; or (b) otherwise engaged in acts, 
. . . 

practices, or courses of business that were fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative with respect to . 

investors or prospective investors in an OM Investment Management-managed fund, a pooled 

inveshnent vehicle; 

69. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants directly and indirectly vi?lated, and, 

unless restrained and enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section 206(4) and 

Rule 206(4)w8 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(4) and 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)~8. 

COYNTYl 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 206(4) 
AND RULE 206(4)-2 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

(Against OM Investment Management) · 

70. The Commission realleges and incorporates by referenc'e paragraphs 1 

through 52 as if fully set forth herein. 

71. At all relevant times, OM Investment Management was an investment 

adviser, within the ·meaning of Section 202(a)(l 1) of .the Advisers Ac~ .15 U.S.C. § 80bw 

2(a)(l 1), to OM Olob11l, a pooled investment vehicle, and OM Investment Management was 

registered with the Commlssioll. 
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72. At all relevant times, by using the mails or the means or instrumentallties of 

intel'state commerce, dircc!ly or indirectly, while acting as an investment adviser, OM 

Investment Management had custody and control over OM Global's assets, 

73. OM Global never underwent a StU'J)rise aimuol examination by an independent 

accountant nor provided investors with audited financial statements, 

74. By reason of the foregoing, OM Investment Management directly and indirectly 

violated, and, unless restrained and enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section 

206(4) and Ri1le 206(4)~2 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. 801)"6(4) and .17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)"2, 

COUNTVij 

AIDING AND ABETTING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 206(4) 
AND RULE 206(4)-2 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

(Agninst Movulla) · 

75. The Co11U11ission reaJieges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

76. At all relevant times, ·OM Investment Management emd Movalia were 

investment advisers. Within the meaning of Section 202(a)(l l) of the Advisers Act,)5 U.S.C. § 

80b-2(a)(l J), In addition, at .all relevant times, OM. Investment Management served as an · 

investment adviser to · OM Global, a pooled investment vehicle, and OM Investment 

Management was registered with the Commission. 

77. At all relevant times, by 11sing the mails or the means or instrnmentalities of 

interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, while acting as an investment adviser, OM 

Investment Management had custody and control over OM Global's assets. 

78. OM Global never underwent a surprise annual examination by an 111dependent 

11ccountnnt nor provided investors with m1dited financial statements. 
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79. By reason of the foregoing, Movalia aided and abetted OM Investment 

Management's violations of Section 206(4) and Rule 206(4)~2 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

80b-6(4) and 17 C.F.R. § 475.206(4)~2. Unless restrained and elljoi11ed1 Movnlia is reasonably 

likely to continue to violate Section 206{4) and Rule 206(4)-2 of theAdvise1·s Act, 15 U.S.C. 

80b·6(4) and 17 C •. F.R. § 275.206(4)-2. 

f;!OUNTYIII 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 207 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 
(Against OM Investment Management and Movalia) 

80. The Commission realleges and incorporates by 1:eference p!lfagraphs 1 throt1gh 

52 as if fully set forth herein, 

81. At all relevant. times, OM Investment Management and Movalia were . 

investment advisel's, within the meaning ofSection 202(a)(ll) ofthe Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 
. ' . . . 

80b-2(a)(l 1 ), 

82. Through the false statements in OM Investment Management's 4012 and 2013 

Form ADV Patt lA filings as alleged above; OM Investment Management and Movalia willfully 

made untrne statements of material fact in a registration application 01· report filed with the 

Commission under Section 203 or 204 pf the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3 or.15 U.S.C, § 

80b~4, 01· willfully omitted to state in any such application or report any material fact which is 

required to. be stated therein, 

83. By reason of the fo1•egoing1 OM lnvestmen(Manageinent and Mo\lalia directly 

and indirectly violated, and, unless restrained and enjoined, are reasonably likely to contim1e to · 

violate, Section 207 of the Advise.rs Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b·7. 

-17-
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COUNT IX 

VIOLATIONS OFSECTION203A 
OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

(Against OM lllvestment Mnnngement) 

84. The Commission reE11leges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 thr6i1gh 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

85, At all relevant times, OM Investment Management was an investment adviser, 

within the meaning of Section 202(a)(l 1) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C, § 80b-2(a)(l l). 

86. At all relevant times, OM Investment Management had its principal office and 

place of business in the .sta~e of .Flo1ida, a state that examines investment advisers, and OM 

Investment Management was required to, and did, register· with the State of Florida as an 

investment adviser. 

87. Under Commission regulations adopted in June 2011, investment advisers with 

assets under management between $25-100 million were required to withdmw from Commission 

registration no later than June 28, 2012 and move to state registration, 

88. At E\ll relevant times, OM Investll'ient Management. never reported more than 

$56.3 million in assets under management and did not withdraw from Commission registration 

before June 28,· 2012, OM Invesunent Management therefore· improperly remained registered 

with the Commission under Section 203 of the Advisers Act, 15 U,S,C. § 80b-3, 

89. By reason of the foregoing, OM Investment Management directly and indirectly 

violated, and, unless restrained and enjoined, is 1·easonably likely to continue to violate, Section 

203A of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 8.0b-3a, 

·18~ 
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COUNTX 

AIDING AND ABETTING VIOhATIONS OF SECTION 203A 
OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

· (Agninst MovnUa) 

90. The Conunissfon realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 throngh 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

91. At all relevant times, OM Investment Management and Movalia were 

investment advisers, within the meaning of Section 202(a)(11) of the Advisers. Act, 15 U.S.C, § 

80b-2(a)(l 1). 

92. At all relevant times, OM Investment Management had its pt'incipal office and 
. . 

place of business in the State of Florida, a state that exan).ines investment advisers, and OM 

It1vestme11t Management was required to, and did,· register with the State of Florida as an 

investment adviser, 

93, Under Commission regulations adopted in June 2011, investment advise1·s with 

assets under management between $25-100 million were required to withdraw from Commission 

registration no later than June 28, 2012 and move to state registration. 

94. At all relevant times, OM In.vestment Manage,rn.ent never l'eported more than· 

$56.3 million in assets under management and did not withdraw from Commission registration 

before hme 28, 2012. OM Investment Ma11ageme11t therefo1'e improperly registered with the 

Commissiort under Seotiop. 203 of the Advisers Aot, 15 U.S.C. § .80b-3. 

95. By reason of the foregoing, Movalia aided and abetted OM Investment 

Management's violations of Section 203A of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C, § 80b-3a, Unless 

restrained and enjoined, Movalia is reasonably likely to continue to violate Section 203A of the 

Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C, § 80b-3n. 

-19-
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COUNT XI 

AIDING AND ABE'tTING.YIOLATIONS OF SECTIO~ 7(q) 
OF THE INYESTMENT COMPANY ACT . 

(Agalust OM Investment Management 1md. Movalia) 

96. The Commission· renlleges nnd incorporates by 1'eference parngraphs 1 through· 

52 as if fully set forth herein, 

97. At all.!'elevant time$, OM Global was an investment compnny under Section 

3(a) of the Investment Company Act, 1.5 U.S.C. § 80a-3(a), 

98. By engaging in the conduct doscribecl above, OM Global, directly or indfrectly, 

without being registered with the Commission as an investment company: (a) offered for sate; 

sold, or delivered after sale, by the use of the mails or a means or instnimentality of intet·state 

commerce, n security or interest in a security; or offered for sale, sold, or delivered after sale any 

such security or interest, having reason to believe that such security or interest would be made 

the s\1bject of a public offe1ing by the use of the mails or a means or iristnunentality of interstate 
' ' ' 

commerce; (b) purchased, redeemed, retired, or otherwise acquired or attempted to acquire, ·by 

the use of the mails or a means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, a security or interest in 

a security; (c) engaged in any business in interstate commerce; 01· (d) controlled any comp~ny 

which engages in any of the conduct described in this paragraph. 

99, By reason of ~ie foregoing, OM Investment Management and Movalia aided 

' ' 

and abetted OM Olobat>s violations. of Section 7(a) ofthe Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C; § 

80a-7(a), Unless restrained and enjoined, .OM Investment Management a11d Movalia are 

reasonably likely to continue lo violate Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U;S.C. § 

80fl·7(a). 

-20~ 
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COUNT XII 

YJOLATION OF SECTIONS 5(n) and 5{c) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 
(Against All Defendants) 

100. The Commission realleges and. incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

52 as if fully set forth herein. 

10 I . By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants, directly or· indirectly 1 

in the absence of any applicable exemption from registration, and without a registration 

statement i11 effect as to a security, made use of the means Ol' instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or of the· mails to sell such security through the use or 

medium of any prospectus or othetWise; or can-ied or caused to be canfod through the mails or in 

interstate commerce, by the means or instrnments of tra11sportation, such security for the purpose 

of sale or for delivery after sale. In addition, by engaging in the conduct described above, 

Defendants made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication ill 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or off et to buy through the use or qiedium of 

any prospectus or othetWise ·any security, without filing a registratiOrt statement with the 

Commission as to such secmity1 or while the registration statement was the subject of a refusal 

order or stop order oi· (prior to the effective d.ate of the regisµ-ation statement) any public 

proceeding or examination under Section 8 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77h. 

102. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants directly and indirectly violated,· and, 

unless restrained nnd enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Sections S(a) and (c) 

of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c). 

-21- . 
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RELIEF REOUE.STED 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court; 

I. 

Declaratory Relief 

Declare, determine, and find thnt Defendants have commWed the violations of the federal 

securities laws alleged in this Complaint. 

n. 

Pcnnaueut lniunctive Relief 

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining Defendants, their officers, agents, 

servants, employees, attomeys, and all persons in active concert or participation with them, and 

ench of them, from violating the federal securities laws alle~ed in this Complaint. 

III. 

Disgorgement 

Issue irn Ordel' directing Defendants bM ·Investment Management and Movalia to 

disgo!'ge all ill-gotten gains, including prejudgment interest, resulting from the act$ or courses of 

conduct alleged in this CompJai~t. 

IV. 

Pen~ltles 

I.sane an Order directing Defendants to pay civil money penalties and prejudgment 

interest pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); Section 2l(d) of the 

Exchange Act, IS U.S.C. § 78u(d); Section 209(e) of the Advisers Aot1 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e); 

and Section 42(e) of the Investment Company Ac~ 15 U.S,C. § 80a"4l(e), 
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v. 
Asset Freeze 

Issue an Order freezing the assets of Defendants OM' Investment Mtmagement nnd 

Movalia until further Ordet• of the Court. 

VI, 

Accounting 

issue an Order requiring Defendants OM Investment Management and Movalia to: 

(a) make a swoni accounting to this Court and the Commission of all funds, whether . 
. . 

in the form of compensatfon, commissions, income (including payments for. assets, shares or 

property of any kind), and other benefits (including the provision of services of a pe1'sonal or 

mixed business and personal nah1re} received by OM Investment Manage'111e11t and/or Movalia 

relating in any way .to OM Investip.ent Management; OM Global, and/or OM LP; 

(b) make a sworn accounting to this Court and the Commission of all assets, funds, o.r 

otl).er properties held by OM Investment Management and/or Movalia, jointly or individually, or 

for their direct or indirect belleficinl interest, or over .which they maintain control, wherever 

situated, stating the location, value, and disposition of each such asset, fund, and other property; 

a11d 

(c) provide to the Court and the Commission a sworn identification of all accounts 

(including, but not limited to,. bank accounts, savings accounts, securities accounts and deposits 

of any kind) in which OM Investment Management and/or Movalla (whether solely or jointly), 

directly or indirectly (including tlU'ough a corporation, partnership, relative, friend or nominee); 

either have an interest 01· over .which they have the power or right to exercise control. 

~23-
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VII. 

Records Preservation 

Issue an Order requiring that D~fendants OM Investment Management and Movalia, their 

directors, officera, agents,. servants, employees, attorneys, depositories, banks, and those persons 

in active concert or paiticipation with any one 01· more qf .them, and each of them, be and they 

hereby are restrained and enjoined from, directly or i11directly1 destroyi.ng, · mutilatin~, 

concealing, altering, disposing of, or otherwise rendering illegible in any manner, any of the 

books, records, dociunents, correspondence, brochures, ·manuals, papers, ledgers, accounts, 

·statements, obligations, files and other property of or pertaining to-Defendants OM Investment . . . 

Management and/ol' Movalia wherever located and in whatever form, electronic or otherwise, 

until further Order of this Court. 

VIII. 

Further Relief 

Grant such other and fu!'ther relief as may be necessary and appropriate; 

IX. 

;getentlon of Jurisdiction 

Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this 

action in order to implement and cany out the fonns of all orders and decrees that it may enter, or 

to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the 
. 

jurisdiction of this Court. 

-24~ 
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Dated: September 27, 2013 

By: 

Respectfully st1bmitted, 

Patrick R. Costello 
Senior Trial Counsel 
Florida Bar No. 75034 
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6380 
E-mail: QostelloP@seo.goy 
.Lead Attorney 

ATTORNEYS FORPLAlNTlFF 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
801 Brickell A venue, Suite 1800 
Miami, Florida 33131 · 
Telephone: (305) 982-6300 
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Miami Division 

CASE NO: 13-23486~CIV .. MARTINEZwMCALILEY 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

OM IN'(ESTMENT MANAGEMENT LLC, 
GIGNESHMOV ALIA, and 
EDWINV. GAW 

Defendants. 

JUDGMENT OF PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 
AS TO DEFENDANT GIGNESH MOVALit\ 

The Securities and Exchange Commission having filed a Complaint, and Defendant 

Gignesh Movalia having entered a general appearance; consented to this Court's jurisdiction 

over him and the subject matter of this action; consented to entry of this Judgment of Permanent 

Injunction and Othe1· Relief as to Defendant Gignesh Movalia ("Judgment") without admitting or 

denying the allegations of the complaint (except as to personal and subject matter jurisdiction, 

which Movalia admits); waived findings of fact and conclusions of law; and waived any right to 

appeal from this Judgment: 

I. 

SECTIONS 5(a) and 5(c) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 

IT lS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, servants, employees, 

attorneys, representatives, and all persons in active concert or participation with them who 

EXHIBIT 

j ~ J __.... 
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receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from violating Sections S(a) and 5( c) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the 

11Securities Act"), 15 U.S,C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c), by, directly or indirectly, in the absence of 

any applicable exemption: 

(a) unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, making use of any 

means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce 

or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium of any prospectus 

or otherwise; 

(b) unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, carrying or causing to 

be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any means or 

instruments of transportation, any such security for the purpose of sale or for 

delivery after sale; or 

(c) making use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use 

or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration 

statement has been filed with the Commission as to such security, or while the 

registration statement is the subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior to the 

effective date of the registration statement) any public proceeding or examination 

under Section 8 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77h]. 

2 
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II. 

SECTION 17(p) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Section l 7(a) of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C, § 77q(a), in the offer or sale ofany security by the use of any means or instruments of 

transportation or communication in interstate commerce or'by use of the mails, directly or 

indirectly: 

(a) 

(b) 

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; 

to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a material fact 

or any omission of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 

made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

or 

( c) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates or 

would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser by, directly or indirectly, (i) 

creating a false appearance or otherwise deceiving any person, or (ii) 

disseminating false or misleading documents, materials, or information or 

making, either orally or in writing, any false or misleading statement in any 

communication with any investor or prospective investor, about: 

.(a) any investment strategy or investment in securities,· 

· (b) the prospects for success of any product or company, 

3 
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(c) the use of investor funds, 

(d) compensation to any person, 

(e) investor account balances, 

(t) Movalia's qualifications to advise investors, or 

(g) the misappropriation of investor funds or investment proceeds. 

III. 

SECTION lO(b) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE 10b·5 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating, directly or indirectly, Section lO(b) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Exchange Act 

Rule 1 Ob-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240. 1 Ob-5, by using any means or instrumentality of interstate 

commerce, or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection 

with .the purchase or sale of any security: 

(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; 

(b) to make any Wltrue statement of a material fact, or to omit to state a material fact 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; or 

(c) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would 

operat~ as a fraud or deceit upon any person by, directly or indirect.Iy, (i) creating 

4 
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a false appearance or otherwise deceiving any person, or (ii) disseminating false 

or misleading documents, materials, or information or making, either orally or in 

writing, any false or misleading statement in any communication with any 

investor or prospective investor, about: 

(a) any investment strategy or investment in securities, 

(b) the prospects for success of any product or company, 

(c) the use of investor funds, 

(d) compensation to any person, 

(e) investor account balances, 

(f) Movalia's qualifications to advise investors, or 

(g) the misappropriation of investor funds or investment 

proceeds. 

IV. 

SE~TIONS 2Q6(1) and (2) OF THE ADVISERS A{;T 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this. Judgment by personal service or otherwise are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating, directly or indirectly, Sections 206(1) and 

206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the "Advisers Acn, 15 U.S,C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 

(2), by using the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or 

indirectly: 

s 

I 
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(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any clients or prospective 

clients; or 

(b) to engage in any transaction, practice or course of business which operates as a 

fraud or deceit upon any clients or prospective clients by, directly or indirectly, (i) 

creating a false appearance or otherwise deceiving any person, or (ii) 

disseminating false or misleading documents, materials, or information or 

making, either orally or in writing, any false or misleading statement in any 

communication with any investor or prospective investor, about: 

(a) any investment strategy or investment in securities, 

(b) the prospects for success of any product or company, 

(c) the use of investor funds, 

( d) compensation to any person, 

(e) investor account balances, 

(t) Movalia's qualifications to advise investors, or 

(g) the misappropriation of investor funds or investment proc~eds. 

v, 

SECTION 206(4) AND RULE 206(4)-8 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise, are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 80b·6(4), and Advisers Act Rule 206(4)-8, 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8, directly or 

6 
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indirectly, by using the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, while 

engaged in the business of advising a pooled investment vehicle for compensation as to the 

advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities: (a) to make any untrue statement of 

a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, to any investor or prospective 

investor in the pooled investment vehicle; or (b) otherwise engage in any act, practice, or course 

of business that is fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative, with respect to any investor or 

prospective investor in the pooled investment vehicle. 

VI. 

SECTION 206(4) AND RULE 206(4)-2 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise, are 

pennanently restrained and enjoined from aiding and abetting violations of Section 206( 4) of the 

Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(4)i and Advisers Act Rule 206(4)-2, 17 C.F.R. § 275,206(4)-2, 

directly or indirectly, by using the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, 

while engaged in the business of advising a pooled investment vehicle for compensation as to the 

advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities, to have custody of client funds or 

securities without complying with the terms and conditions of Advisers Act Rule 206( 4)-2, 17 

C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-2. 

7 
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VII. 

SECTION 207 OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise, are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from violating Section 207 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

80b~ 7, directly or indirectly, by using the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate 

commerce willfully to make any untrue statement of a material fact in a registration application 

or report filed with the Commission under Section 203 ot 204 of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

SOb-3 or J 5 U,S.C. § 80b-4, or willfully to omit to state in any such application or report any 

material fact which is required to be stated therein. 

VIII. 

SECTION 203A OF THE ADVISERS ACT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise, are 

permanently restrained and enjoined from aiding and abetting violations of Section 203A of the 

Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b~3a, directly or indirectly, by using the mails or any means or 

instrumentality of interstate commerce to register, or remain registered, under Section 203 of the 

Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3, without complying with the terms and conditions of Section 

203A of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3a. 
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IX. 

SECTION 7(3) OF THE INVESTMENT COMP ANY ACTJ 

IT IS FURTH~R ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia and his agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys, representatives and all persons in active concert or participation with them 

who receive actual notice of this Judgment by personal service or otherwise, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from aiding and abetting violations of Section 7(a) of the Investment 

Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-7, by any investment company that, directly or 

indirectly, without being registered with the Commission as an investment company: (a) offers 

for sale, sells, or delivers after sale, by the use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce, any security or any interest in a security; or offers for sale, sells, or delivers 

after sale any such security or any interest in a security, having reason to believe that such 

security or interest will be made the subject of a public offering by the use of the mails or any 

means or instrumentality of interstate commerce; (b) purchase~, redeems, retires, o_r otherwise 

acquires or attempts to acquire, by the use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce, any security or any interest in a security; (c) engages In any business in 

interstate commerce; or (d) controls any company which engages in any of the conduct described 

in this paragraph. 

x. 
ASSET FREEZE 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that, pending further Order of this 

Court: 
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A. Movalia and his agents, servants, employees, attorneys, representatives, 

depositories, banks, and those persons in active concert or participation with any one or more of 

them, and each of them who receive notice of this Judgment by personal service, mail, facsimile 

transmission, electronic mail or otherwise, be and hereby are restrained from, directly or 

indirectly, transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, selling, pledging, assigning, liquidating 

or otherwise disposing of, or withdrawing any assets or property owned by, controlled by, or in 

the possession of MovaHa, including, without limitation, cash, free credit balances, fully paid for 

securities, and/or· property pledged or hypothecated as collateral for loans, other than as ordered 

by Court. 

B. Any financial or brokerage institution or other person or entity holding any assets 

or property in the name, for the benefit or under the control of Movalia, directly or indirectly, 

held jointly or singly, and wherever located, and which receives notice of this Judgment by 

personal service, facsimile, electronic mail or otherwise, shall hold and retain within its control 

and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, transfer, disposition, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, set 

off, sale, liquidation, dlssipation, concealment~ or other disposal of any such funds or other 

assets, including, without limitation, the following presently known financial accounts: 

(a) Gignesh MovaUa or Sona Ghia 
JPMorgan Chase 
Account number ending in 4095 

(b) OM Investment Management, LLC 
Bank of America 
Account number ending in 3594 . 

(c) OM Investment Management, LLC 
Interactive Brokers, LLC 
Account number ending in 0799 
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(d) OM Global, LP 
Bank of America 
Account number ending in 23 89 

(e) OM Global, LP 
Bank of America 
Account number ending in 2392 

(t) OM Global, LP 
Bank of America 
Account number ending in 2402 

(g) OM Global Investment Fund, LLC 
Bank of America 
Account number ending in 3581 

(h) OM Global Investment Fund; LLC 
Interactive Brokers, LLC 
Account number ending in 1864 

(i) OM Investment Management, LLC 
Interactive Brokers, LLC 
Account number ending in 0790 

C. Notwithstanding Sections X.A and X.B above, any assets or property of OM 

Global Investment Fund, LLC ("OM Global") and OM Global LP ("OM LP") which are 

presently under the control of the corporate monitor appointed by the Circuit Court of the 

Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, in the matter of Chirag Amin 

v, Gignesh Movalia et al. 
1 
Case No. 13· 18620-CA 13, shall not be subject to this Judgment, but 

only insofar as such assets and property remain under the control of the corporate monitor; if 

said assets and property are no longer under the control of the corporate monitor, then said assets 

and property will automatically be subject to the terms of this Judgment. 

D. Notwithstanding Sections X.A and X.B above, Movalia shall be entitled to the 

release of frozen funds to pay each of his reasonable and necessary living expenses in the total 

l l 
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monthly amount of $5,548,00. Such funds shall be released on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of 

each calendar month, Should Movalia have additional expenses in a particular month in excess 

. of $5,548.00 for which he seeks.a release of frozen funds, the parties shall discuss said additional 

expenses in good faith, and if an agreement is reached, Movalia shall file a consent motion with 

the Court seeking approval of the release of frozen funds. If the parties are unable to agree, 

Movalia may move the Court separately for approval and the Commission shalJ file a response 

opposing the approval. 

E, Also notwithstanding Sections X.A and X.B above, Movalia_ shall be e.ntitled to 

the release of frozen funds to.pay reasonable attorneys' fees in the total monthly amount of 

$2,000.00. Such funds shall be released on the first (1st) day of each calendar month, 

F. Further notwithstanding Sections X.A and X.B above, any employment income 

earned individually by Movalia's wife, Sona Movalia (a.k.a. Sona Ghia), after the date this 

Judgment is entered shall not be subject to this Judgment. 

XI. 

DISGORGEMENT AND CIYIL PENALTY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Movalia shall pay disgorgement 

of ill-gotten gains, prejudgment interest, and a civil penalty pursuant to Section 20( d) of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), Section 2l(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3), 

Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act, IS U.S.C, § 80b-9(e), and Section 42(e) of the Investment 

Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(e), The Court shall determine the amounts of the 

disgorgement and civil penalty upon motion of the Commission, Prejudgment interest shall be 

calculated from July 11, 2013, based on the rate of interest used by the Internal Revenue Service 
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for the underpayment offederal income tax as set forth in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2). In connection 

with the Commission's motion for disgorgement and/or a civil penalty, and at any hearing held 

on such a motion: (a) Movalia will be precluded from arguing he did not violate the federal 

securities laws as alleged in the Complaint; (b) Movalia may not challenge the validity of the 

Consent or this Judgment; ( c) solely for the purposes of such motion, the allegations of the 

Complaint shall be accepted as and deemed true by the Court; and (d) the Court may determine 

the issues raised in the motion on the basis of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of sworn 

deposition or investigative testimony, and documentary evidence, without regard to the standards 

for summary judgment contained in Rule S6(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In 

connection with the Commission's motion for disgorgement and/or a civil penalty, the parties 

may take discovery, including discovery from appropriate non~parties. 
I 

XII. 

ACCOUNTING 

IT IS-FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that within twenty (20) calendar 

days of the date this Judgment is entered, Movalia shall; 

A. Make a sworn accounting to this Court and the Commission of all funds, whether 

in the form of compensation, commissions, income (including payments for assets, shares or 

property of any kind), draws, and other benefits (including the provision of services of a personal 

or mixed business and personal nature) received by Movalia relating in any way to OM 

Investment Management, LLC, OM Global Investment Fund, LLC, and/or OM Global, LP; 

B. Make a sworn accounting to this Court and the Commission of all assets, funds, 

or other properties held by Movalia, jointly or individually, or for his direct or indirect beneficial 

13 

I 
I 
I 

Case 1:14-cv-22150-CMA   Document 19-3   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/14/2014   Page 13 of 15



Case 1:14-cv-22150-CMA Document 17-3 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/09/2014 Page 14 of 15 

Case 1:13-cv-23486-JEM Document 6 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/10/2013_ Page 14 of 15 

interest, or over which he maintains control, wherever situated, stating the location, value, and 

disposition of each such asset, fund, and other property; and . 

C. Provide to the Court and the Commission a sworn identification of all accounts 

(including, but not limited to, bank accounts, savings accounts, securities accounts and deposits 

of any kind) in which Movalia (whether solely or jointly), directly or indirectly (including 

through a corporation, partnership, relative, friend or nominee), either has an interest or over 

which he has the power or right to exercise control. 

XIII. 

RECORDS PRESERVATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that pending further Order of this 

Court, Movalia, his directors, officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, representatives, 

depositories, banks., managers, members and those persons in active concert or participation with 

any one or more of them, and each of them, be and they hereby are restrained and enjoined from, 

directly or indirectly, destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering, disposing of, or otherwise 

rendering illegible in any manner, any of the books, records, documents, correspondence, 

brochures, manuals, papers, ledgers, accounts, statements, obligations, files and other property 

that refers, reflects or relates in any way, directly or indirectly, in whole or in. part, in any manner 

whatsoever, to OM Investment Management, LLC, OM Global Investment Fund, LLC, and/or 

OM Global, LP, wherever located and in whatever form, electronic or otherwise. 
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XIV. 

INCORPORATION OF CONSENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Consent filed herewith is 

incorporated with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein, and that Movalia shall 

comply with all of the undertakings and agreements set forth therein. 

xv. 

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that this Court shall retain 

jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Judgment. 

XVI. 

RULE 54(b} CERTIFICATION 

There being no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, the Clerk is ordered to enter this Judgment forthwith and without further notice. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Fiorida, this l day of Oc ober, 2013. 

Copies provided to: 
Magistrate Judge McAliley 
All Counsel of Record 
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